

Variation in Drought Tolerance Attributes Among Tepary Bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) Germplasm

By

Nong R. A

(Student number: 14014607)

A dissertation submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Agriculture (Crop Science) (MScAgric)

Department of Plant and Soil Sciences Faculty of Science, Engineering and Agriculture University of Venda South Africa

Supervisor:

Co-supervisor:

Prof E.T. Gwata Dr. A.S. Gerrano

October 2022





Abstract

Tepary bean (Phaseolus acutifolius A. Gray) is an important food legume which originated from South America. In South Africa, it is cultivated by smallholder growers mainly in the drought prone Sekhukhune District of Limpopo Province. Currently, there are no significant breeding efforts aimed at cultivar development of this crop and it remains underutilized despite the potential of the crop. Therefore, this study evaluated drought tolerance and growth attributes of the tepary bean emphasising on the leaf proline content that are associated with drought tolerance directly or indirectly. The study also determined the drought tolerance and growth relationships as well as identified potentially superior genotypes of tepary bean. The germplasm was evaluated before and after the soil moisture stress treatment which was imposed on the trial by withholding water for 21 days. A 6 x 7 rectangular lattice design replicated three times was used for evaluating 42 genotypes. The results showed that prior to soil moisture stress, there were significant (P<0.05) differences among the 42 genotypes for all the six phenotypic parameters that were measured. The highest (1.05 µmol/g dry weight) and lowest (0.32 µmol/g dry weight) leaf proline content (LPC) were observed for genotypes 'Ac-35' and 'Ac-9', respectively. The trial mean for proline was 0.69 µmol/g dry weight. The genotype 'Ac-42' attained the highest (27.85) leaf chlorophyll content (LCC) which was 48.94% higher than the check genotype ('Ac-34'). The genotype 'Ac-33' achieved almost two-fold higher relative water content (RWC) (84.72%) than genotype 'Ac-11' which recorded the lowest (43.12%) RWC. The highest (68.70 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹) stomatal conductance (SC) was three-fold more than for the check genotype (19.90 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹). At least four genotypes ('Ac-6', 'Ac-7', 'Ac-22' and 'Ac-28') attained significantly (P < 0.05) greater stem height (SH) than the trial mean (28.63 cm). After the soil moisture stress treatment, the results revealed that the LPC ranged from 1.26 to 0.36 µmol/g dry weight that were observed for genotype 'Ac-35' and 'Ac-9', respectively. The LPC showed a positive but not significant (P > 0.05) correlation with each of the other remaining attributes both before and after the moisture stress treatment. Similarly, after the soil moisture stress, the LCC maintained a highly significant (P < 0.01) positive correlation with the RWC but a negative correlation with the SH. In both soil moisture conditions, there was no discernible correlation between the SD and the SH. In general, the soil moisture stress lead to a variable increment in the LPC among the genotypes. An independent samples t-test which was used to determine the significance of the change in LPC showed that there was a highly significant (P < 0.00019) difference between the measurements of this amino acid before and after soil moisture stress. The results also showed a reduction in LCC during the soil moisture stress period but there was no clear pattern of the influence of the soil moisture stress on both the SC and RWC.



The principal component analysis showed that before the soil moisture stress, the first two principal components accounted for 45.49% of the total variation and three traits (SC, LPC and SH) were highly associated with PC1. In addition, SC contributed the most variation for this component. However, PC2 was highly associated with LPC and RWC. In contrast, PC3 was dominated by SH. The results also showed that after the soil moisture stress, the first two principal components accounted for >50.0% of the total variation. The LPC and SH were highly associated with PC2 but PC3 was dominated by both LCC and SD. In the biplot analysis four genotypes ('Ac-2', 'Ac-19', 'Ac-30' and 'Ac-41') were clustered around the origin prior to the moisture stress treatment while five genotypes ('Ac-3', 'Ac-9', 'Ac-11', 'Ac-28' and 'Ac-35') were distinct and positioned far away from the origin. The genotypes in the right top quadrant (including 'Ac-4', 'Ac-6', 'Ac-7' and 'Ac-28') were associated and characterized by high leaf proline, high degree of stomatal opening and tall shoots. The tallest shoots were associated with the genotypes that were grouped in the left top quadrant while the remainder of the genotypes were characterized by thick stems and grouped in the left bottom quadrant. The tepary bean genotypes were grouped into three main clusters with the majority of the genotypes (64.28%) grouped in cluster III. Cluster I consisted of only seven genotypes including 'Ac-40' (which was associated with high LCC) as well as 'Ac-2', 'Ac-35', and 'Ac-37' (which were characterized by both LPC and RWC). The check (genotype 'Ac-34') was grouped in cluster III in a sub-cluster with genotype 'Ac-20'. This study discusses the implications of the observed variability among the tepary bean genotypes for these phenotypic attributes and growth parameters. There will be merit in validating these results on a field basis together with grain yield evaluation and genotyping over multiple locations and seasons to determine elite germplasm that breeders and growers can utilize.

Key words: physiological attributes; correlation; soil moisture stress. germplasm; phenotypic variability; tepary bean

Manuscript submitted:

- Nong RA, AS Gerrano and Gwata ET (2022). A preliminary evaluation of phenotypic traits of tepary bean (Phaseolus acutifolius A. Gray) germplasm. *J Underutil Crop Res*. In review.
- Nong RA, Gwata ET and Gerrano AS (2022). Impact of soil moisture stress on selected physiological and growth parameters of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) genotypes. Heliyon. In review.



Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to both my parents, P. A. and K. A. Nong and late grandparents, Maubane T. S. and Nong T. M.



Declaration

I, Refilwe Aljareau Nong, hereby declare that this dissertation, for the Master Science in Agriculture (Crop Science) in the Department of Plant and Soil Sciences at the University of Venda, hereby submitted by me, has not previously been submitted for a degree at this or any other University. It is my own work, design and execution. All reference material contained therein has been duly acknowledged.

Student: Nong R. A.

NONG R.A.

Date: ...11/09/2022.....

As supervisors, we agree that the submission of this dissertation.

Supervisor: Prof. E.T. Gwata

Signature: ... E7Gwata

Date: ...06/10/2022

Co-Supervisor: Dr. A.S. Gerrano

Signature: ...

Date: ...06/10/2022





Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my supervisors, Prof. E. T. Gwata and Dr. A. S. Gerrano for their guidance and sharing their research knowledge with me. This work could have not been accomplished without them. I would like to thank Mr. Moalafi A. and Ms. Mokgehle N. S. for their help with the resources needed for data collection and laboratory analyses. I would also like to acknowledge Sakata Seed Company and the University of Venda for funding this research. I am grateful for the support I received throughout this study.



v



Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Dedication	iii
Declaration	iv
Acknowledgement	v
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	x
List of abbreviations	xi
List of Appendices	xiii

1.0 CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Problem statement	2
1.3 Justification of the study	2
1.4 Objectives of the study	2
1.5 Hypotheses	3

2	.0 CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
	2.1 Origin and biology of the tepary bean	4
	2.2 Importance of the crop	4
	2.3 Production areas and agronomic practices	5
	2.4 Productivity of the crop and constraints to production	6
	2.5 Breeding efforts to improve the crop	7
	2.6 Effect of moisture stress on the productivity of tepary bean	7
	2.7 Methods of inducing soil moisture stress	8
	2.8 Drought tolerance mechanisms and their measurements	10
	2.8.1 Genetic factors	10
	2.8.2 Root traits	10
	2.8.3 Relative water content	11
	2.8.4 Stomatal conductance	11
	2.8.5 Abscisic acid and proline accumulation	12
	2.9 Plant and root trait measurements under drought conditions	14
	2.10 Measurement of proline under drought conditions	14
	2.11 Summary of literature review	15

3.0 CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS1	16
---	----



3.1 Genetic materials	16
3.2 Testing location and trial establishment	18
3.3 Measurement of phenotypic traits	19
3.3.1 Leaf sampling and determination of leaf proline content	21
3.4 Experimental design and statistical analysis	21

4.0 CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	22
4.1 Trial establishment	22
4.2 Measurement of phenotypic and growth parameters before moisture stress	23
4.3 Measurement of phenotypic and growth parameters after moisture stress	25
4.4 Relationships among phenotypic and growth parameters	27
4.5 Change in leaf proline, stomatal conductance and relative water content	29
4.6 Principal component analysis and principal component biplot	31
4.7 Clustering pattern of the genotypes	34

5.0 CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	35
6.0 CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	38
REFERENCES	39
APPENDIX	57



List of Figures

Fig.1.1 The location of Sekhukhune district in South Africa where tepary bean is cultivated by smallholder farmers. [Adapted from: - https://www.google.com/maps/place/Southern (Accessed 29/07/2021)]
Fig.2.1 The structure of proline 13
Fig.3.1 Samples of tepary bean seed genotypes with white (left), grey-speckled (middle) and black testa colors (right)
Fig.3.2 Raised trays filled with a mixture of red top field soil and vermiculite for planting tepary bean that were used in the study18
Fig.3.3 The measuring of the stem diameter with a vernier caliper (red circle) and leaf chlorophyll content with a chlorophyll mete (yellow circle)
Fig.3.4 The measuring of the stomatal conductance with a leaf porometer
Fig.4.1 Establishment of tepary bean seedlings (left) and vigorous adult plants (right) that were raised in the greenhouse
Fig.4.2 Variation in the degree of wilting (a) partially wilted (b) and permanently wilted (c) tepary bean plants after 21 days of soil moisture stress in the greenhouse
Fig.4.3 Variation in the percent change in leaf proline content among tepary bean genotypes after soil moisture stress. (Genotype 'AC-34' = check) 29
Fig.4.4 The pattern of leaf chlorophyll content (top), relative water content (middle) and stomatal conductance (bottom) before and after soil moisture stress among the top 10 genotypes (based on leaf proline content) of tepary bean
Fig.4.5 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42

Fig.4.5 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42 tepary bean genotypes estimated using the data set of phenotypic traits before soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm))...33

Fig.4.6 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42 tepary bean genotypes estimated using the data set of phenotypic traits after soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm)) **.33**

viii



Fig.4.7 Dendrogram of 42 tepary bean genotypes for six studied	variables using hierarchical
cluster analysis (Ward's method and squared Euclidean distance)) 34



List of Tables

Fable 3.1 A summary of some descriptors for 42 tepary bean genotypes that were used	in the
study	17

Table 4. 2 Variability in leaf physiological and stem parameters among 42 tepary beanaccessions after water stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content;RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance)26

Table 4.5 Principal component analysis showing the eigenvector, eigenvalue and cumulativepercentage of the first five principal component axes for six phenotypic traits among teparybean genotypes before soil moisture stress32

Table 4.6 Principal component analysis showing the eigenvector, eigenvalue and cumulativepercentage of the first five principal component axes for six phenotypic traits among teparybean genotypes after soil moisture stress32





List of Abbreviations

- ABA = abscisic acid
- AC = accession
- AMMI = additive main effects and multiplicative interaction
- ANOVA = analysis of variance
- ARC = Agricultural Research Council
- FAO = Food and Agriculture Organization
- GGE = genotype main effect and genotype by environment interaction
- ITPS = Inter-governmental Technical Panel on Soils
- LCC = leaf chlorophyll content
- LPC = leaf proline content
- LSD = least significant difference
- mRNA = messenger ribonucleic acid
- N = nitrogen
- NSR = number of secondary roots
- OA = osmotic adjustment
- PCA = principle component analysis
- PC1 = first principal component
- PC2 = second principal component
- PC3 = third principal component
- PC4 = fourth principal component
- PC5 = fifth principal component
- PEG = polyethyle glycol
- pH = potential of hydrogen
- PRL = primary root length
- P5CR = pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase
- RDW = root dry weight
- RFW = root fresh weight



- RWC = relative water content
- SAS = statistical analysis system
- SC = stomatal conductance
- SD = stem diameter
- SDW = shoot dry weight
- SFW = shoot fresh weight
- SH = shoot height
- SNP = single nucleotide polymorphism
- SPSS = statistical package for the social sciences
- SRL = secondary root length
- SWSR = Status of the World's Soil Resources

UV = ultraviolet





List of Appendices

xiii



1.0 CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) is a self-pollinating diploid (2n = 2x = 22) legume which originated from the arid and semi-arid region of north western Mexico and south western United States (Nabhan and Felger, 1978). It then spread to many African countries including Botswana, Kenya, Malawi, South Africa and Zimbabwe where smallholder farmers use unimproved landraces of the crop (Gwata et al., 2016). In South Africa, tepary bean is cultivated in the dryland areas of Limpopo Province particularly in the Sekhukhune region (Fig. 1.1) where growers use traditional varieties. It is a summer annual crop and possesses unique genetic attributes such as tolerance to drought and heat, making it suitable for cultivation in arid and semi-arid environments (Baath et al., 2020). Tepary bean is traditionally grown for dry seed production. It is sometimes consumed as sprouts or green beans and the leaves are also consumed while haulms are used for animal feed (Small, 2014).

The grain of tepary bean provides affordable sources of protein for human consumption and is valuable for income generation particularly in the smallholder cropping systems in southern Africa (Gwata et al., 2016). The seed contains high protein (25.0%) content essential mineral elements such as calcium, iron, copper and zinc among others (Bhardwaj and Hamama, 2004). The seed of tepary bean also contains considerable amounts of oil and fatty acids (Bhardwaj and Hamama, 2005). Tepary bean also fixes nitrogen (N) thus contributing to the improvement of soil fertility (Mohrmann et al., 2017). Due to its high protein content, and resistance to biotic and abiotic stress factors, tepary bean is suitable for cultivation by resource-poor farmers particularly in southern Africa (Porch et al., 2013). The inclusion of legumes in the human diet is important in controlling and preventing various metabolic diseases such as colon cancer, diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease (Jiri et al., 2017).

Despite its potential significance, tepary bean has generally received limited research priority towards cultivar development compared with other legume crops. Consequently, a limited number of improved cultivars have been released for cultivation (Porch et al., 2013). Tepary been production can be enhanced through development of superior and high yielding genotypes with enhanced resistance to abiotic and biotic stresses. Although tepary bean grows well in hot and dry environments, its productivity may vary among genotypes and environments (Mhlaba et al., 2018).

Climate change has increased the frequency of extreme weather patterns including irregular precipitation, which can cause drought stress resulting in significant reductions in



crop production thus threatening food security (Lesk et al., 2016). Currently, limited water is a major constraint in grain legume production in many African countries. One of the approaches to achieve increased water capture and use efficiency in legumes is through developing better root systems (Ye et al., 2018). Variation in root traits in legumes were reported in previous studies of chickpea (Kashiwagi et al., 2005), common bean (Beebe et al., 2013) and tepary bean (Butare et al., 2011). In addition, significant variability in proline accumulation in crops under soil moisture stress was reported (Mwadzingeni et al., 2016). Therefore, both the root attributes and leaf proline variation are reliable indicators for response to moisture stress in various legumes.

1.2 Problem statement

In South Africa, tepary bean growers currently use traditional varieties. There are no commercial improved varieties of this crop. However, introduced germplasm from Mexico in our research program has not yet been characterized adequately for drought attributes under local agro-ecological conditions. Superior genotypes that can tolerate severe soil moisture stress have not been identified. To date, potential breeding material in the germplasm has not been identified adequately.

1.3 Justification

The identification of superior germplasm of tepary bean which can tolerate severe soil moisture stress will enhance the genetic improvement of the crop in terms of local production. Genotypes that possess the genes for drought tolerance can be utilized in future as parental sources in the breeding program aimed at improving the traits. New improved cultivars of tepary bean will benefit growers and end users in our region.

1.4 Objectives

The main objective of this study was to evaluate the performance of exotic tepary bean germplasm under soil moisture stress conditions.

The specific objectives of the study were to:

(i) determine the variation in drought tolerance attributes and growth parameters among tepary bean genotypes before and after soil moisture stress conditions



(ii) determine the relationships among the drought tolerance attributes and growth parameters in the germplasm

(iii) identify superior genotypes of tepary bean genotypes that tolerate soil moisture stress conditions.

1.5 Hypotheses

The study tested the following null hypotheses:

(i) there was no variation in drought tolerance attributes and growth parameters among tepary bean genotypes that were subjected to soil moisture stress conditions.

(ii) there were no relationships among the drought tolerance attributes and growth parameters in the germplasm

(iii) there were no superior genotypes of tepary bean genotypes that tolerate soil moisture stress conditions in the germplasm.



Fig. 1.1 The location of Sekhukhune district in South Africa where tepary bean is cultivated by smallholder farmers. [*Adapted from: -* https://www.google.com/maps/place/Southern (Accessed 29/07/2021)].



2.0 CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Origin and biology of tepary bean

Tepary bean is a short life cycle legume originating from the arid and semi-arid environments of north-western Mexico and south-western United States (Nabhan and Felger, 1978). It was introduced and cultivated in Africa, Asia, and Europe (Zambre et al., 2006). In Africa, it is cultivated in Botswana, Kenya, Zimbabwe and South Africa (Molosiwa et al., 2014; Jiri and Mafongoya, 2016) by smallholder farmers mainly for subsistence purposes.

Genotypes of tepary bean vary in their flower colour (white and purple); and seed colour (white, black, speckled and tan) (Mohrmann et al., 2017) as well as growth habit (climbing, erect and bushy) (Porch et al., 2017; Ghadimian et al., 2021). Short duration types may mature within 60 - 70 days from the day of sowing (Molosiwa and Kgokong, 2018). Tepary bean plants flower within 27 - 40 d after germination but the growth period may extend to 120 days in cooler areas (Mohrmann et al., 2017). In a recent field study that was conducted in KwaZulu Natal Province (South Africa), tepary bean required 32 d and 52 d to flowering and maturity, respectively (Jiri and Mafongoya, 2016).

2.2 Importance of the crop

Tepary bean seed is often consumed after boiling, steaming, frying or baking. The leaves are eaten in many communities although they are tougher than those of common bean and take relatively longer to cook (Bhardwaj and Hamama, 2004). In Botswana, it is grown by small scale farmers as a source of food for humans while haulms are used as feed for animals (Molosiwa et al., 2014). Tepary bean is grown occasionally for fodder (Bhardwaj, 2013). In Africa, tepary bean is an important food crop that reduces malnutrition and enhance income and livelihoods of resource limited farmers (Parry et al., 2009; Jiri and Mafongoya, 2016). It is tolerant to drought, salinity, heat stress, pests and microorganisms (Heredia-Rodriguez et al., 2019). According to FAO (2015), the dry grain of tepary bean is an affordable alternative source of protein comparable to meat. The crop also fixes nitrogen (N) in the soil which may reduce the application of chemical N fertilizers (Mohrmann et al., 2017). However, the rate of N fixation has not been adequately determined particularly under African agro-ecological conditions.





2.3 Production areas and agronomic practices

Tepary bean recently gained importance in semi-arid parts of Africa such as northeastern Kenya, Uganda, Zimbabwe, Botswana and South Africa, where most other legumes fail due to drought (Shisanya, 2005; Jiri et al., 2017). In South Africa, it is cultivated mainly in the Sekhukhune District of the Limpopo Province.

It is a short duration crop suited to arid and semi-arid regions as it is tolerant to heat and drought stresses (Rao et al., 2013; Porch et al., 2017). Previous studies showed that the crop could be cultivated in conditions where the maximum daily temperatures reach 32°C and minimum temperatures of 19°C (Rao et al., 2013). After flowering, little to no rain is needed as it can thrive during drought with low annual rainfall requirements ranging from 500 mm - 1700 mm (Mapp et al., 2016). Well-drained soils are preferred while reasonable yield can be obtained on soils with pH 5 - 7 (Shisanya, 2005). It does not tolerate waterlogging and heavy clays (Ahmed et al., 2012). However, the crop is moderately tolerant to saline and alkaline soil conditions (Abiala et al., 2018).

The seed is planted in rows of 60 cm - 90 cm with 10 cm - 45 cm between plants within the row (Heredia-Rodriguez et al., 2019). Earlier work on tepary bean revealed that planting dates significantly affected seed yield, seed weight and harvest index. The time of planting is important in determining the final seed yield and can be a useful agronomic means to effectively control several pests (Ezeaku et al., 2014; Molosiwa and Kgokong, 2018). Therefore, it can be a good cultural control method of pest and diseases among subsistence farmers with limited access to resources (Akande et al., 2012). A study by Molosiwa and Kgokong (2018) indicated that planting early in December resulted in more yields especially under normal rainfall than late planting in February in Southern parts of Botswana.

Effective weed control is one of the prerequisites for high yields. Early control is extremely important because the root system of the plant develops at this stage and some weeds secrete chemical inhibitors which limit plant growth (Sajedi et al., 2015). Weeding using a hand hoe is very essential at early stages of crop growth since weeds compete with crop plants for nutrients, moisture, sunlight, space and act as secondary host for insect-pests and diseases (Rana and Jatav, 2017; Jiri et al., 2017). Mechanical weed control is usually carried out during seedbed preparation removing all weeds as well as ensuring that implements do not damage the crop; this can also be avoided by using row spacing that permits easy access (Liebenberg, 2002). Cultivation between the rows can be advantageous because it loosens the soil and improves aeration and water penetration. Weeds in the row can be hand-pulled while chemical weed control can be implemented before planting (Rana and Jatav, 2017).



Tepary bean is harvested when all the pods have matured, but before they begin to shatter. It can be harvested by hand-pulling (Souter et al., 2017), then threshed by hand using a stick to beat the pods while the wind is used to separate the seeds from the chaff (Liebenberg, 2002).

2.4 Productivity of the crop and constraints to production

Climate change has caused changes in the growing seasons in many parts of the world leading to reduction in crop yield (Ezeaku et al., 2015). Araújo et al., (2015) stated that drought stress is one of the major abiotic constraints limiting crop productivity particularly for small holder farmers and that this affects plant processes resulting in reduced gas exchange and crop growth. Markhart (1985) observeds that some crops tolerate water stress better than others by becoming more efficient at utilizing available water under drought conditions. Parry and Medrano (2005) indicated that growth rates of crops are generally determined by rates of photosynthesis; therefore, higher photosynthesis and improved water use efficiency may result in increased yields under water stress. Cuellar-Ortiz et al., (2008) observed that water shortage occurring in short periods impose a more stressful metabolic state by altering plant photosynthesis, leading to a depletion of sugars and hence poor grain quality and yield. On the other hand, Ashraf (2012) highlighted that excessive rainfall can lead to waterlogging resulting in limited gas exchange between root systems and soil pores. Ashraf (2012) added that when soils are saturated, oxygen requirements rapidly exceed available concentrations and consequently, the roots suffer from absence of oxygen and this reduces nutrient uptake, crop growth and yield. Ahmed et al., (2012) noted that water-logging may cause necrosis, stunting, defoliation, reduced N fixation and plant death.

Abdelrahman et al., (2018) indicateds that increases in soil salinity is one of the major causes of soil degradation in many parts of the world. Tetteh, (2015) pointed out that soil degradation can be caused by inappropriate fertilizer applications and FAO and ITPS (2015) addeds that excessive irrigation with salt-containing water can also lead to soil degradation. Hu et al., (2016) indicated that unsustainable soil management practices are also responsible for soil degradation. Cao et al., (2018) concluded that soil salinity inhibits the normal growth and development of most crop plants thus causing significant yield losses globally. These limitations apply also to leguminous crops such as tepary bean.



2.5 Breeding efforts to improve the crop

Mhlaba et al., (2018) observed that despite the nutritional importance and ability to tolerate biotic and abiotic stresses, tepary bean is neglected and under-utilized because of 7 limited research support. In addition, Gujaria-Verma et al., (2016) observed that this lack of research support is particularly pronounced in the genetic improvement of the crop. Porch et al., (2013) asserted that only a few improved genotypes have been developed and released for cultivation). For instance, Mhlaba et al., (2018) and Molosiwa et al., (2014) stated that farmers in sub-Saharan Africa currently cultivate unimproved varieties which are low yielding. Mwale et al., (2020) argued that increased tepary bean production can be obtained through the development of superior and high-yielding genotypes with enhanced tolerance to abiotic and biotic stresses. Potential target traits include water use efficiency, rooting depth, biomass accumulation and stomatal conductance (Rao et al., 2017; Chater et al., 2017).

Although limited genetic divergence was reported among the domesticated tepary bean genetic pool, Bhardwaj et al., (2002) and Mohamed et al., (2005) noted that genotypic differences exist for agronomic traits. On the other hand, Mohamed et al., (2005) and Türkan et al., (2005) indicated that there are also physiological and biochemical differences in the traits of tepary bean. Thus, Blair et al., (2012) and Porch et al., (2013) claimed that a breeding program involving domesticated and wild tepary bean accessions can be useful for developing breeding populations. Porch et al., (2013) reported that previous breeding efforts improved yield, adaptation, seed size, seed quality, common bacterial blight resistance and rust resistance. Singh and Munoz (1999) added that persistent breeding efforts have successfully transferred genes conferring common bacterial blight resistance but Kusolwa and Myers (2011) noted that these efforts have resulted in bruchid seed pest resistance. Souter et al., (2021) reported that the use of ethyl methane sulphonate as a mutagenic agent in tepary bean produced early maturing lines that have the potential to escape terminal drought stress.

2.6 Effect of soil moisture stress on the productivity of tepary bean

Soil moisture stress limits agricultural productivity, particularly in African smallholder cropping systems. It does so by affecting different plant processes, resulting in reduced crop growth and productivity. Soil moisture stress influences plant-water relations, affecting water uptake, stomatal functioning and delaying chlorophyll biosynthesis, hence photosynthesis (Hayat et al., 2012). The frequency of soil moisture stress during the cropping seasons is increasing in many parts of the world partly due to the global climate change (Blum, 2011).

The requirement for moisture varies with the stage of the plant development (Pushpavalli et al., 2014). Soil moisture stress during the vegetative growth may result in



minimal yield reduction since the crop can recover and compensate once the stress is withdrawn. However, during the early reproductive stages (early flowering to full bloom) moisture stress causes flower abortion in legumes and consequently a decrease in seed yield (Farooq et al., 2014; Wijewardana et al., 2019). For instance, in soybean, drought stress during the mid-reproductive stages (pod initiation to seed filling) leads to significant loss in grain yield but the crop is less sensitive to drought occurring in the late reproductive growth stages (Pushpavalli et al., 2014).

Moderate to severe drought reduces plant biomass, grain yield and related components of legumes (Baroowa and Gogoi, 2013). According to Beebe et al., (2013) moderate to severe drought stress in common bean reduced canopy biomass and seed yield, harvest index, number of pods as well as seed weight per plant. The magnitude of the reduction depends on the duration and intensity of the stress, genotypic variability and crop developmental stage (Farooq et al., 2016). In addition, the crop response to drought varies depending on the species, duration and intensity of the stress, as well as the timing of the stress with respect to the stage of development of the plant (Vadez et al., 2012). Leguminous crops employ various strategies to cope with soil moisture stress, with variation in response to moisture stress within species (Lynch, 2013). Therefore, the plant genotype is important in its ability to cope with soil moisture stress.

2.7 Methods for inducing soil moisture stress

A range of different methods for inducing moisture stress have been used for different crops including legumes such as chickpea (Pang et al., 2017), cowpea (Nkoana et al., 2019) and tepary bean (Crespo-Muñoz et al., 2018). The different methods were employed at specific growth stages depending on the objectives of the study (Table 2.1). The use of polyethyle glycol (PEG) was used widely in both legumes and cereals such as maize (Bruce et al., 2002) sorghum (Jones and Turner, 1978) and wheat (Morgan et al., 1986). However, the tray method was used mainly for cowpea at the seedling growth stage (De Ronde and Spreeth, 2007; Nkoana et al., 2019).



Table 2.1 Examples of methods that were used for inducing soil moisture stress

Drought inducing	Сгор		0	je References	
method	Common name Scientific name Growth		- Growth stage		
Box (tray) evaluation in the greenhouse	Cowpea	Vigna anguiculata	Seedling	De Ronde and Spreeth, 2007; Nkoana et al., 2019	
	Chickpea	Cicer arietinum		Pang et al., (2017)	
Field evaluation	Tepary bean	Phaseolus acutifolius Reproductive L		Urrea and Porch, 2009; Mohamed et al., 2005	
Field evaluation	Common bean	Phaseolus vulgaris		Muñoz-Perea et al., 2006; Urrea and Porch, 2009	
	Rice	Oryza sativa	Vegetative	Gaudin et al., 2013	
	Tepary bean	Phaseolus acutifolius		Leal-Delgado et al., 2019	
	Common bean	Phaseolus vulgaris	Seedling	Türkan et al., 2005	
	Cowpea	Vigna anguiculata		Nkomo et al., 2020	
	Chickpea	Cicer arietinum		Pouresmael et al., 2013	
Pot evaluation in the greenhouse	Common bean	Phaseolus vulgaris Flowering		Thinley and Dorji, 2021	
greeninduse	Cowpea	Vigna anguiculata		Ajayi, 2022	
	Tepary bean	Phaseolus acutifolius		Crespo-Muñoz et al., 2018	
	Soybean	Glycine max	Reproductive	Bellaloui et al., 2011	
	Cowpea	Vigna anguiculata		Singh et al., 1999	
	Tepary bean	Phaseolus acutifolius		Jimenez-Galindo et al., 2018; Mohamed and Tawfik, 2007	
	Common bean	Phaseolus vulgaris		Jimenez-Galindo et al., 2018	
In vitro evaluation	Soybean	Glycine max		Bouslama and Schapaugh, 1984	
using polyethylene	Pearl millet	Pennisetum glaucum	Seedling	Govindaraj et al., 2010	
glycol (PEG)	Maize	Zea mays		Bruce et al., 2002	
	Wheat	Triticum aestivum		Morgan et al., 1986	
	Sorghum	Sorghum bicolor		Jones and Turner, 1978	



2.8 Drought tolerance mechanisms and their measurements

2.8.1 Genetic factors

The adaptive mechanisms that plants employ during moisture stress conditions which include morphological, physiological, cellular and metabolic adjustments are governed by specific genes that produce proteins that allow moisture stress avoidance or tolerance (Uno et al., 2000; Ndima et al., 2001). Therefore, proteins that are produced protect the macromolecular functioning (Galau et al., 1986), sequestration of ions, binding of water and functioning as molecular chaperones. The synthesis of many proteins during dehydration are regulated by the plant hormone abscisic acid (Bray, 1997) and it has been recorded that most genes require abscisic acid under stressed conditions (Nelson et al., 1994). The drought responsive genes were classified according to their functions such as involvement in regulation of gene expression, metabolism, ion sequestration, and osmolyte synthesis (Bray, 1993).

2.8.2 Root traits

The development and distribution of the root system can be regarded as key factors for more efficient water uptake and thereby for managing the performance of legumes under drought stress (Wasaya et al., 2018). The essential characteristics of drought tolerance such as a deep, wide-spreading, much-branched root systems are essential to access available soil moisture in deep layers of the soil (Fenta et al., 2014). A deep and proliferative root system can avoid drought stress by its ability to acquire more water and nutrients (Ye et al., 2018) in water deficit soils. The benefit of a deep and proliferative root system for drought tolerance was reported in various crops, including wheat (Wasson et al., 2012), chickpea (Chen et al., 2012) and soybean (Sadok and Sinclair, 2011). In chickpea, genotypes with long and dense roots performed well under water deficit environments (Jaganathan et al., 2015). Root length varied significantly among genotypes with total root length ranging from 305 cm to 3824 cm while rooting depth ranged from 38.3 cm to 105 cm (Chen et al., 2017). However, in another study, rooting depth was similar among genotypes that were harvested at 61 days after sowing (Zaman-Allah et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the sensitive genotypes produced shallower root systems than the tolerant ones.

Early development of deep rooting and ability to partition photosynthates to the grain were identified as key mechanisms contributing to improved drought resistance in common bean (Beebe et al., 2013). Greater exploitation of subsoil water due to deeper root systems also improved chickpea yield under drought conditions (Kashiwagi et al., 2015). Root traits



contribute to the survival and productivity of plants under soil water-limited conditions and are strongly associated with drought tolerance in crops (Sadok and Sinclair, 2011). Despite the importance of the root traits in legumes limited efforts have been directed towards developing cultivars with an improved root system in tepary bean.

2.8.3 Relative water content

Relative water content (RWC) is a measure of the amount of water available in plant tissues. RWC is important for preserving water through stomatal features including stomatal closure during moisture stress conditions (Lugojan and Ciulca, 2011). It is also critical for growth and physiological functioning of plants. Plant genotypes maintaining a higher yield under moisture stress conditions can be selected based on variations in RWC (Omae et al., 2005). Tepary bean genotypes that could maintain relatively high values of RWC showed considerable tolerance to drought (Mohamed and Noga, 2002), soybean (Sloane et al., 1990) and common bean (Runkulatile et al., 1993). In cowpea, the RWC of leaves of genotypes from water-stressed treatment was lower than that of the non-stressed genotypes (Hayatu et al., 2014). In other studies, involving tepary bean (Mohamed et al., 2005), faba bean (Siddiqui et al., 2015), common bean (França et al., 2000) and chickpea (Rahbarian et al., 2011; Talebi et al., 2013), RWC was used as a selection criterion for drought tolerance. In addition, the RWC in drought tolerant cowpea genotypes ranged between 50.0% and 67.0% (Ajayi, 2022) while > 40.0% RWC was considered as a reasonable indicator of drought tolerance (Alidu et al., 2019). However, moisture stress at the flowering stage decreased the RWC for both tolerant and susceptible genotypes, but the reduction was lower for the drought tolerant cowpea genotypes which subsequently attained higher seed yield than the susceptible genotypes (Ajayi, 2022). In chickpea, significant genotypic variation in RWC due to soil moisture stress was reported (Pouresmael et al., 2013). Therefore, genotypes that maintain a high RWC in moisture stress environments can be suitable to exploit in tepary bean breeding programs.

2.8.4 Stomatal conductance

The stoma is a critical organ which regulates water and gas exchange between the plant and the external environment. During photosynthesis, optimum absorption of carbondioxide is ensured by the stomata through controlling the optimal transpiration (Markhart, 1985). The ability of the stomata to stomatal opening and closure, thus adjusting transpiration in plants under moisture stress conditions is critical for avoiding dehydration (Fang and Xiong, 2015). Higher stomatal conductance or stomatal closure restricts water loss but the degree of



stomatal opening is difficult to measure accurately. Stomatal characteristics in faba bean were determined through microscopy (Khazaei et al., 2013). In general, the leaf porometer can be used to measure stomatal conductance. Markhart, (1985) observed that the stomatal closure in tepary bean during soil moisture resulted in postponing moisture loss in the leaf tissue and concluded that if this trait is incorporated into bean genotypes, it could improve their levels of drought tolerance. In another study, greater stomatal conductance was maintained in tepary bean than in common bean under soil moisture stress induced by PEG treatment (Turkan et al., 2005). However, stomatal conductance in common bean and chickpea reduced with increasing drought stress (Pouresmael et al., 2013; Mathobo, 2017). In addition, higher stomatal density in faba bean, for instance, resulted in diminished drought tolerance and yield in comparison with genotypes that were characterized by low stomatal density as they performed better in stress conditions (Ricciardi, 1989; Khan et al., 2007; Belachew et al., 2019). Khazaei et al., (2019) summarised that faba bean breeders could select for high stomatal conductance during drought to optimize the genetic gain. Therefore, considerable variability for stomatal conductance exists in legumes under soil moisture stress.

2.8.5 Abscisic acid and proline accumulation

Abscisic acid (ABA) is the messenger hormone which mediates drought stress response in plants (Raghavendra et al., 2010). Soil moisture stress causes high levels of ABA to be synthesized (Sauter et al., 2001; Christmann et al., 2007;) in plants which respond by closing their stomata (Rabbani et al., 2003; Mori et al., 2006) and gene expression in response to drought conditions (Yoshida et al., 2019). The hormone also promotes the synthesis and accumulation of proline by affecting the activity of pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase (P5CR) (Verslues and Bray, 2006; Verbruggen and Hermans, 2008). In addition, ABA is critical for water uptake and transport within the plant through root conductivity enabling the plant to continuously adapt to moisture stress conditions (Ali et al., 2020).

On the other hand, proline (Fig. 2.1) is an amino acid which is synthesized from glutamic acid and used in the biosynthesis of proteins (Kishor et al., 2005). In plants, it is associated with plant adaptation to adverse conditions. As a multifunctional amino acid, proline has diverse roles under stress conditions such as stabilization of proteins, membranes, and subcellular structures, and protecting cellular functions by scavenging reactive oxygen species (Kaur and Asthir, 2015) and maintaining turgidity of cells (Hayat, 2012). The enhanced rate of proline biosynthesis can contribute to the stabilization of redox balance and maintenance of cellular homeostasis by dissipating the excess of reducing potential when the electron transport chain is saturated during adverse conditions (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010) and its



catabolism is connected to oxidative respiration and administers energy to resume growth after stress. Proline accumulates in the leaves with increased drought stress in both sensitive and tolerant cultivars. However, proline accumulates in higher concentrations in the tolerant genotypes than the sensitive genotypes. It can be used to screen genotypes for drought tolerance (Esack et al., 2015).

In tepary bean, drought tolerance was previously linked to proline accumulation (Lazcano-Ferrat and Lovatt, 1999) and antioxidant biosynthesis (Turkan et al., 2005). However, the studies did not focus of the root traits which are critical in crop adaption and productivity under soil moisture limited conditions (Ye et al., 2018). However, in cowpea, genotypes tolerant to soil moisture stress were identified using a combination of root trait and leaf proline response (Nkoana et al., 2020). In a study that was conducted in wheat, the rate of proline accumulation and utilization was considerably higher in the drought-tolerant cultivar than in the drought-sensitive one (Solanki et al., 2014). Genotypic variation in proline accumulation was reported in various legumes including soybean (Masoumi et al., 2011), chickpea (Mafakheri et al., 2010) and cowpea (Hamidou et al., 2007; Nkoana et al., 2020) under varying drought stress levels. Therefore, there is a merit in investigating both the accumulation of proline and root trait in a diversity of tepary bean genotypes under soil moisture stress to identify superior germplasm that can be utilized in breeding activities of the crop. For instance, there is potential to utilize proline as a biochemical marker for drought stress tolerance in crops.



Fig. 2. 1 The structure of proline



2.9 Plant and root trait measurements under drought conditions

Physiological traits such as stomatal conductance, chlorophyll content, relative water content (RWC), osmotic adjustment (OA) and cell membrane stability have been used as indicators of drought tolerance in several crop plants (Bayoumi et al., 2008; Turan and Ekmekçi, 2011). Chlorophyll content was determined using chlorophyll meter (Muñoz et al., 2021). Under drought, chlorophyll content is shown to increase in the leaf, however the genotypes with higher observed chlorophyll content access water deep in the soil profile under moderate or intermediate droughts (Polania et al., 2016). In the field, phenotypes with water spending strategy under drought stress develop deep roots in order to acquire water from deep soil layers resulting in increased carbon assimilation (increased stomatal conductance) and plant growth (Mwale et al., 2020).

The stomatal conductance was used to analyze the stomata (Dipp et al., 2017). Leaf relative water content was determined using the method of Sade et al., (2015) where fully expanded leaves were sampled from the experiment under drought conditions. Fresh weight was recorded and then the leaf samples were placed in a petri dish with distilled water for 4 hours. Turgid weight was recorded after which the samples were placed in an incubator at 70°C for 24hrs to determine dry weight. The relative water content was then calculated (Siddiqui et al., 2015). On the other hand, shoot biomass was determined separately after uprooting the plant prior to oven drying it at 80°C to determine the dry weight (Fenta et al., 2012).

Plant root systems are important for adaptation against biotic and abiotic stresses. Genotyping quantitative traits have been conducted successfully but phenotyping has been a major challenge for plant breeders to improve abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants (Sharma et al., 2016). Root phenotyping methodologies include some degree of automation with imaging and image processing that utilize high resolution scanners for resolving lateral roots (Lopes and Reynolds, 2010). In another study that was conducted under greenhouse conditions, the entire primary root was sampled for visual measurement of primary root lateral branching, taproot length, root system architecture and its fresh weight (Fort et al., 2017). The remaining root biomass was stored separately and oven dried at 60°C for 72 hours and weighed to determine their dry weight.

2.10 Measurement of proline under drought conditions

Recent studies reported that proline analysis was carried out in laboratories; samples of the second top leaves from the flag leaf were harvested from the stressed and non-stressed



plots from the greenhouse. The leaf samples were temporarily stored at low temperatures and freeze dried (Mwadzingeni et al., 2016). The dry leaf tissue was ground and 0.1g samples were homogenized in 10mls of 3% aqueous sulfosalicylic acid. Proline extraction was done following the acid-ninhydrin method followed by UV-visible spectrophotometer readings as described previously (Bates et al., 1973).

2.11 Summary of literature review

The literature review revealed the following:

- (i) tepary bean crop is short-season, maturing in about 90 days
- (ii) tepary bean is generally regarded as a drought tolerant legume

(iii) soil moisture stress negatively affects water uptake, stomatal functioning and chlorophyll biosynthesis, hence photosynthesis

(iv) during the early reproductive stages, moisture stress causes flower abortion in legumes and consequently a decrease in seed yield

(v) a deep and proliferative root system partly accounts for the ability of tepary bean to avoid the negative effects of drought stress

(vi) root and growth parameters of various legumes including tepary bean have been evaluated successfully to identify drought tolerance under greenhouse conditions

(vii) leaf physiological attributes such as proline content, chlorophyll content, relative water content and stomatal conductance have been used as indicators of drought tolerance in tepary bean and several other field crops

(viii) an increment in both leaf proline and stomatal conductance have been associated with drought tolerance in legumes including tepary bean.

15



3.0 CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Genetic materials

There were 42 tepary bean genotypes including two checks that were used in the study. The germplasm originated from Mexico and included a range of seed color types such as black, brown, speckled, white and cream types (Fig. 3.1). In addition, the genotypes included both early and late flowering types as well as distinct testa colors (Table 3.1). The seed size classification varied from small (100 seed weight \leq 13.0 g) to large (100 seed weight \geq 17.0 g).



Fig. 3.1 Samples of tepary bean seed genotypes with white (left), grey-speckled (middle) and black (right) testa colors.





Table 3.1 A summary of some descriptors for 42 tepary bean genotypes that were used in the study.

Genotype		Seed	Testa	Llooful Notos
Designation	Code	size	color	
1	AC- 1	Medium	Cream	Normal flowering, white flowers, climbing, medium pods
2	AC- 2	Large	Cream	White flowers, climbing, long pods
3	AC- 3	Medium	White	White flowers, climbing, long pods
4	AC- 4	Medium	white	Late flowering, white flowers, climbing, long pods
5	AC- 5	small	Black	Purple flowers, climbing, long pods
6	AC- 6	Medium	White	Early flowering, white flowers, semi-erect, small pods
7	AC- 7	Small	White	Early flowering, white flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
8	AC- 8	Medium	Black	Early flowering, purple flowers, semi-erect, long pods
9	AC- 9	Small	Brown	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
10	AC- 10	Small	Cream	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
13	AC- 11	Medium	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
14	AC- 12	Small	White	Early flowering, white flowers, climbing, medium pods
15	AC- 13	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, long pods
16	AC- 14	Small	White	Late flowering, white flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
17	AC- 15	Medium	Speckled	Early flowering, purple flowers, erect, small pods
18	AC- 16	Medium	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
19	AC- 17	Medium	White	White flowers, climbing, long pods
20	AC- 18	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
21	AC- 19	Large	White	White flowers, semi-erect, long pods
22	AC- 20	Medium	White	Late flowering, white flowers, climbing, long pods
23	AC- 21	Medium	white	White flowers, semi-erect, long pods
24	AC- 22	Small	White	White flowers, semi-erect, long pods
25	AC- 23	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
29	AC- 24	Small	White	White flowers, semi-erect, small pods
31	AC- 25	Small	Cream	White flowers, climbing, long pods
32	AC- 26	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, long pods
33	AC- 27	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
34	AC- 28	Medium	Cream	Late flowering, white flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
35	AC- 29	Small	Cream	Late flowering, purple flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
36	AC- 30	Medium	Brown	White flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
37	AC- 31	Medium	Speckled	Purple flowers, climbing, long pods
38	AC- 32	Large	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
39	AC- 33	Small	White	Late flowering, white flowers, climbing, medium pods
40	AC-34 (Check)	Small	White	Late flowering, white flowers, climbing, long pods
41	AC- 35	Small	White	White flowers, climbing, long pods
42	AC- 36	Medium	White	Early flowering, white flowers, climbing, medium pods
43	AC- 37	Medium	White	White flowers, climbing, medium pods
45	AC- 38	Small	White	Late flowering, purple flowers, semi-erect, medium pods
46	AC- 39	Small	Cream	Early flowering, white flowers, semi-erect, long pods
47	AC- 40	Medium	White	White flowers, semi-erect, long pods
49	AC- 41	Large	White	White flowers, semi-erect, long pods
50	AC- 42	Small	White	Early flowering, white flowers, climbing, long pods



3.2 Testing location and trial establishment

The study was conducted at Agricultural Research Council – Vegetable and Ornamental Plants Institute, Roodeplaat South Africa, Pretoria (25.60°S; 28.35°E). In each row for each replication, five seeds per genotype were planted in a 155 cm x 77 cm x 23 cm box (tray) that was placed on a metal table (65.0 cm high) in a greenhouse and filled with a mixture of red top field soil and vermiculite (1:1) (Fig. 2.1). The soil mixture was irrigated to field capacity after which the excess water could drain before planting (Nkoana et al., 2019). The seeds were planted at a depth of about 3 cm at a spacing of 15 cm between rows and 10 cm within rows. The greenhouse temperatures were maintained at 28°C during the day and 15°C during the night.



Fig. 3.2 Raised trays filled with a mixture of red top field soil and vermiculite for planting tepary bean that were used in the study.



3.3 Measurement of phenotypic traits

At five weeks after germination, prior to soil moisture stress, six phenotypic traits were measured among the genotypes. The traits were as follows:

- (i) stem diameter (SD) (cm)
- (ii) stem height (SH) (cm)
- (iii) total leaf chlorophyll content (LCC)
- (iv) leaf proline content (LPC) (µmol/g dry weight)
- (v) relative water content (RWC) (%)
- (vi) stomatal conductance (C) (mmol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$).

The SD was measured with the aid of a venier caliper (Fig. 3.3) and the SH was measured with the aid of a ruler. The LCC was measured using a chlorophyll meter (Minolta Chlorophyll Meter Spad-502, Minolta Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) (Fig. 3.3). The meter quantitatively records numerical leaf color units ranging from high (green) to low (yellow) and determines the transmittance of light through the sample leaf at two wavelengths (650 nm and 920 nm) after which the instrument automatically calculates a numerical value, which is linearly related to the leaf chlorophyll content (Markwell et al., 1995; Gwata et al., 2004). For determining the RWC, two fully expanded and mature leaf samples per genotype were detached to measure the leaf fresh, turgid and dry weights after which the RWC was determined as follows:

 $RWC = ((fresh weight - dry weight) / (turgid weight - dry weight)) \times 100.$

To determine the turgid weight, the leaves were submerged in distilled water in dark for 24 h (Singh and Reddy, 2011; Sade et al., 2015). The dry weight was obtained by first oven-drying (at 60°C to constant weight for three days) and weighed. The stomatal conductance (SC) was measured by using a hand leaf porometer (Fig. 3.4) (Rebetzke et al., 2000).

19





Fig. 3.3 The measuring of the stem diameter with a vernier caliper (red circle) and leaf chlorophyll content with a chlorophyll meter (yellow circle).



Fig. 3.4 The measuring of the stomatal conductance with a leaf porometer.



3.3.1 Leaf sampling and determination of leaf proline content

Fully expanded trifoliate leaves were sampled for proline analysis (Bates et al., 1973; Singh and Reddy, 2011). For the extraction of proline, at least two leaves from each replication were collected at noon and about 0.5 g dry weight of the bulked leaves was homogenized in 10 ml of 3% aqueous sulfosalicylic acid. This was followed by filtration and reaction with 2 ml of acid ninhdrin and 2 ml of glacial acetic acid in a test tube for 1 hour at 100°C. The reaction was subsequently terminated in an ice bath followed by the extraction of the reaction mixture with 4 ml toluene and mixing vigorously with a test tube stirrer for 20 seconds (Bates et al., 1973; Nkoana et al., 2019). The chromophore containing toluene was then aspirated from the aqueous phase and warmed to room temperature where the absorbance was read at 520 nm using toluene as a blank. The proline concentration was determined from a standard curve and calculated on a fresh weight basis as follows:

 $\mu moles \ proline \ / \ g \ of \ fresh \ leaves \ = \frac{\mu g \ proline \ / \ ml \ \times \ ml \ toluene \ / \ 115.55 \ \mu g \ / \mu mole}{(g \ sample) \ / 5}$

3.4 Experimental design and statistical analysis

The study utilized a 7 x 6 rectangular lattice design replicated three times and the data sets were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the statistical software (SAS) program version 9.3 (Bailey and Speed, 1986; SAS, 2000) followed by mean separation using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test. The correlations between the phenotypic traits were determined using Pearson's correlation method (Boslaugh and Watters, 2008). The student t-test (for independent samples) was applied to determine the statistical significance of the difference between the LPC measurements before and after the soil water stress treatment was calculated separately for the treatments followed by the principle component analysis (PCA) based on the correlation matrix using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23 (Ringnér, 2008; SPSS, 2012). A principal component biplot was constructed to optimally visualize the graphic relationships between the genotypes and the phenotypic traits (Yan and Kang, 2003).



4.0 CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

The results of the study revealed interesting findings regarding the performance of tepary bean before and after soil moisture stress. In addition, the results demonstrated a useful procedure that can be applied in studies aimed at screening for drought tolerance in tepary bean. The results are presented in the sections below.

4.1 Trial establishment

The seed germination was high (>90.0%) resulting in good seedling establishment (Fig. 4.1). In addition, the adult plants also showed vigour particularly prior to the soil moisture stress treatment (Fig. 4.1). No leaf diseases were observed on the plants.



Fig. 4.1 Establishment of tepary bean seedlings (left) and vigorous adult plants (right) that were raised in the greenhouse.


4.2 Measurement of phenotypic and growth parameters before soil moisture stress

The results showed that prior to soil moisture stress, there were significant (P<0.05) differences among the 42 genotypes for all the six phenotypic parameters that were measured (Table 4.1). The highest (1.05 µmol/g dry weight) and lowest (0.32 µmol/g dry weight) leaf proline content (LPC) were observed for genotype 'Ac-35' and 'Ac-9', respectively. The trial mean for proline was 0.69 µmol/g dry weight. However, genotype 'Ac-42' attained the highest (27.85) leaf chlorophyll content (LCC) which was 48.94% higher than the check genotype ('Ac-34'). The genotype 'Ac-33' achieved almost two-fold higher relative water content (RWC) (84.72%) than genotype 'Ac-11' which recorded the lowest (43.12%) RWC (Table 4.1). The trial mean for RWC was 69.66%. The highest (68.70 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹ attained by genotype 'Ac-4') stomatal conductance (SC) was three-fold more than for the check genotype (19.90 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹). The genotypes also showed significant (P < 0.05) variability in stem diameter (SD) which ranged from 2.47 cm (for genotype 'Ac-27') to 1.79 cm (for genotype 'Ac-3'). At least four genotypes ('Ac-6', 'Ac-7', 'Ac-22' and 'Ac-28') attained significantly (P < 0.05) greater shoot height (SH) than the trial mean (28.63 cm).





Table 4.1 Variability in leaf physiological and stem parameters among 42 tepary bean accessions before water stress (SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = stem height (cm); LPC = leaf proline content (μ mol/g dry weight); LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content (%); SC = stomatal conductance (mmol m⁻² s⁻¹)).

Genotype			1.00	DWO	60	6.0	011
Designation	Code	LPC	LUU	RWC	50	50	эп
Ac-35	41	1.05	26.11	73.47	21.97	2.27	18.99
Ac-28	34	1.00	17.91	69.38	55.20	2.02	48.60
Ac-6	6	0.99	17.08	70.01	20.77	1.92	57.77
Ac-7	7	0.90	23.68	47.62	47.70	2.11	46.90
Ac-18	20	0.90	24.09	69.56	23.10	2.06	21.21
Ac-14	16	0.88	24.98	78.17	25.70	1.91	34.79
Ac-36	42	0.88	26.73	83.33	25.75	1.83	25.00
Ac-37	43	0.85	22.99	73.16	26.83	1.88	24.03
Ac-41	49	0.84	20.67	65.46	19.00	2.08	29.56
Ac-19	21	0.84	22.81	60.32	34.47	2.20	16.22
Ac-4	4	0.83	25.32	65.64	68.70	1.94	26.69
Ac-15	17	0.83	21.85	78.42	26.87	2.36	19.22
Ac-31	37	0.81	19.37	81.22	28.53	2.46	39.97
Ac-10	10	0.78	25.14	69.31	33.07	2.29	32.93
Ac-32	38	0.78	17.70	80.71	23.47	1.97	19.61
Ac-5	5	0.76	21.91	68.89	22.30	2.10	34.78
Ac-22	24	0.71	21.10	60.35	14.51	1.96	50.48
Ac-39	46	0.70	23.77	76.04	9.90	2.17	19.73
Ac-30	36	0.69	18.29	79.23	40.87	2.16	19.88
Ac-34 (Check)	40	0.68	14.22	76.40	19.90	2.21	31.17
Ac-21	47	0.65	20.98	71.59	28.83	2.02	19.25
Ac-1	23	0.65	21.55	72.87	24.90	2.24	30.67
Ac-3	1	0.64	15.92	53.66	52.40	1.79	15.52
Ac-33	3	0.64	17.41	84.72	27.70	2.28	24.96
Ac-26	39	0.63	17.99	73.59	43.90	1.97	33.11
Ac-20	32	0.63	18.76	76.78	29.00	2.18	28.23
Ac-27	22	0.63	20.23	73.31	47.77	2.47	34.69
Ac-11	33	0.63	19.73	43.12	34.93	1.91	28.10
Ac-2	13	0.62	21.26	63.66	24.40	2.39	41.67
Ac-29	2	0.61	16.12	57.72	35.30	1.99	17.44
Ac-16	35	0.59	21.72	66.94	26.33	2.31	33.97
Ac-42	18	0.57	27.85	73.31	40.30	2.13	26.83
Ac-17	50	0.57	22.6	65.80	22.87	2.17	17.34
Ac-38	19	0.56	18.67	75.53	22.87	1.85	21.26
Ac-40	45	0.55	17.96	46.66	13.40	2.17	32.73
Ac-24	29	0.50	21.00	73.00	16.63	2.07	23.84
Ac-12	14	0.48	19.43	80.30	17.20	2.08	32.97
Ac-25	31	0.45	21.08	63.26	25.90	2.09	29.89
Ac-8	8	0.43	16.50	68.86	17.73	2.07	27.70
Ac-23	25	0.41	22.64	76.62	26.07	2.25	27.51
Ac-13	15	0.40	25.41	67.57	27.47	2.18	17.80
Ac-9	9	0.32	25.96	70.19	17.07	2.12	19.33
Grand mean		0.69	21.11	69.66	31.96	2.11	28.63
Coefficient of va	riation (%)	25.26	15.67	13.76	42.24	7.92	9.96
Least significant difference (5%)		0.61	6.88	23.35	32.04	0.49	22.52



4.3 Measurement of phenotypic and growth parameters after soil moisture stress

The soil moisture stress imposed for 21 days resulted in a clear variation in the degree of wilting among the genotypes and some of them exhibited partial or permanent wilting (Fig. 4.2). The results also revealed significant (P<0.05) differences among the 42 genotypes for all the six phenotypic parameters that were measured after the soil moisture stress treatment (Table 4.2). The LPC ranged from 1.26 to 0.36 μ mol/g dry weight that were associated with genotype 'Ac-35' and 'Ac-9', respectively. The trial mean for the LCC was 8.31. The highest RWC (84.61%) and SC (84.0) were observed for the genotype 'Ac-18' and 'Ac-39', respectively (Table 3). The widest stems (2.20 cm) were observed for genotype 'Ac-11'. Only three genotypes ('Ac-6', 'Ac-20' and 'Ac-28') attained significantly (P < 0.05) greater SH than the trial mean (28.63 cm). However, genotype 'Ac-20' recorded an insignificant LCC due to severe wilting that was induced by the soil moisture stress.



Fig. 4.2 Variation in the degree of wilting (a) partially wilted (b) and permanently wilted (c) tepary bean plants after 21 days of soil moisture stress in the greenhouse.



Table 4.2 Variability in leaf physiological and stem parameters among 42 tepary bean accessions after water stress (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance SD = stem diameter; SH = shoot height).

Genotype			DWC	80	60	ец	
Designation	Code	LFC	LCC	RVVC	30	30	эп
Ac-35	41	1.26	11.42	62.64	24.4	1.76	27.48
Ac-28	34	1.09	11.41	70.47	25.85	1.69	47.98
Ac-6	6	1.08	6.40	52.22	26.10	1.40	52.59
Ac-7	7	1.08	8.08	55.71	26.40	1.75	40.59
Ac-18	20	1.05	13.28	84.61	24.60	1.62	45.32
Ac-14	16	1.00	14.29	76.92	0.00	1.67	35.91
Ac-36	42	0.99	0.00	53.78	12.70	1.52	36.68
Ac-37	43	0.98	13.63	53.78	11.10	1.61	34.00
Ac-41	49	0.97	11.68	55.00	21.60	1.67	44.36
Ac-19	21	0.95	10.85	78.57	14.20	1.85	32.05
Ac-4	4	0.93	10.17	76.19	40.10	1.61	39.72
Ac-15	17	0.92	10.85	51.78	26.00	2.00	30.00
Ac-31	37	0.92	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.13	43.23
Ac-10	10	0.92	11.93	0.00	34.77	1.77	33.23
Ac-32	38	0.92	6.97	57.20	0.00	1.63	39.85
Ac-5	5	0.92	7.23	52.68	21.00	1.77	42.93
Ac-22	24	0.92	6.40	58.33	0.00	1.57	43.41
Ac-39	46	0.90	6.10	50.00	84.00	1.80	33.48
Ac-30	36	0.90	8.61	78.24	33.53	1.80	26.49
Ac-34 (Check)	40	0.90	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.62	27.90
Ac-21	47	0.89	14.67	26.67	14.30	2.00	35.15
Ac-1	23	0.88	9.90	78.57	16.40	1.63	36.51
Ac-3	1	0.86	10.67	68.69	22.77	1.90	33.70
Ac-33	3	0.86	8.56	69.58	27.90	1.25	31.44
Ac-26	39	0.85	4.20	00.00	29.20	1.80	38.91
Ac-20	32	0.02	0.00	75.00	0.00	1.02	20.02
Ac-27	22	0.03	9.23	25.71	20.10	2.20	20.30
Ac-11	12	0.02	6.42	66 11	24.70	1.65	41.77
Δς-20	2	0.00	0.42	0.00	0.00	2.04	38.68
Ac-16	35	0.78	6.46	0.00	34.40	1 55	18 54
Ac-42	18	0.77	12 63	0.00	5 30	1.00	42.24
Ac-17	50	0.73	8.01	66.66	32.55	1.73	40.20
Ac-38	19	0.68	7.47	70.45	21.25	1.86	27.78
Ac-40	45	0.68	10.28	66.48	22.30	1.65	26.41
Ac-24	29	0.66	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.75	36.89
Ac-12	14	0.61	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.75	40.13
Ac-25	31	0.49	7.20	50.00	27.70	1.61	43.14
Ac-8	8	0.48	10.63	45.45	7.60	1.73	40.82
Ac-23	25	0.41	0.00	74.64	25.07	2.04	39.78
Ac-13	15	0.38	23.33	58.33	16.50	1.79	28.77
Ac-9	9	0.36	12.28	66.25	12.05	1.75	25.13
Grand n	Grand mean		8.31	48.85	19.45	1.74	36.54
Coefficient of w	ariation (%)	23.61	63.70	57.90	81.23	10.72	20.07
Least significant difference (5%)		0.50	6.10	9.63	11.43	0.49	10.37



4.4 Relationships among phenotypic and growth parameters

Prior to the soil moisture stress, the LPC showed a positive but not significant (P > 0.05) correlation with each of the other remaining attributes (Table 4.3). However, the LCC showed a highly significant (P < 0.01) positive correlation with the RWC but a negative non-significant correlation with SH. In addition, the SC showed a non-significant negative correlation with both the SD and SH. Similarly, after the soil moisture stress, the LCC maintained a highly significant (P < 0.01) positive correlation with the RWC but a negative correlation with the SH (Table 4.4). However, in both soil moisture conditions, there was no discernible correlation between the SD and the SH.

Table 4.3 Pearson's correlation coefficients for six leaf and growth parameters in tepary bean before soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm)).

	LPC	LCC	RWC	SC	SD	SH
LPC	1.0000					
LCC	0.0775	1.0000				
RWC	0.1905	0.4006 **	1.0000			
SC	0.1140	0.1622	0.3618 *	1.0000		
SD	0.1939	0.0693	0.2410	-0.1015	1.0000	
SH	0.2650	-0.1852	-0.0877	-0.2083	0.0000	1.0000

** = Highly significant at the 1.0% probability level

* = Significant at the 5.0% probability level



Table 4.4 Pearson's correlation coefficients for six leaf and growth parameters in tepary bean after soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm)).

	LPC	LCC	RWC	SC	SD	SH
LPC	1.0000					
LCC	0.0173	1.0000				
RWC	0.1144	0.4005 **	1.0000			
SC	0.1288	0.1622	0.3618 *	1.0000		
SD	-0.1761	0.0700	-0.2414	-0.1039	1.0000	
SH	0.1916	-0.1855	-0.0877	-0.2086	0.0000	1.0000

** = Highly significant at the 1.0% probability level

* = Significant at the 5.0% probability level



4.5 Change in leaf proline, stomatal conductance and relative water content

An independent samples t-test which was used to determine the significance of the change in LPC showed that there was a highly significant (P < 0.00019) difference between the measurements of this compound before and after soil moisture stress. In general, the soil moisture stress lead to a variable increment in the LPC among the genotypes (Fig. 4.3). The highest percent change in the LPC which was observed for genotype 'AC-21' was significantly (P <0.05) higher than the change that occurred in the check genotype 'AC-34' (Fig. 4.3). Only one genotype ('AC-13') showed a negative percent change in LPC after the soil moisture stress treatment.

In general, there was a reduction in LCC during the soil moisture stress period (Fig. 4.4). However, there was no clear pattern in terms of the influence of the soil moisture stress on both the SC and RWC. Some of the genotypes (for example, genotype 'Ac-37') which showed <18.0% change in LPC, maintained significantly higher RWC and SC prior to the stress in comparison with the observations after the stress (Fig. 4.4).



Fig. 4.3 Variation in the percent change in leaf proline content among tepary bean genotypes after soil moisture stress. (Genotype 'AC-34' = check).





Fig. 4.4 The pattern of leaf chlorophyll content (top), relative water content (middle) and stomatal conductance (bottom) before and after soil moisture stress among the top 10 genotypes (based on leaf proline content) of tepary bean.



4.6 Principal component analysis and principal component biplot

The principal component analysis showed that before the soil moisture stress, the first two principal components accounted for 45.49% of the total variation (Table 4.5). Three traits, namely SC, LPC and SH, were highly associated with PC1. In addition, SC contributed the most variation for this component. However, PC2 was highly associated with LPC and RWC. In contrast, PC3 was dominated by SH. The results also showed that after the soil moisture stress, the first two principal components accounted for >50.0% of the total variation (Table 4.6). Three physiological traits, namely RWC, SC and LCC were highly associated with PC1, but LPC and SH were highly associated with PC2 but PC3 was dominated by both LCC and SD.

In the biplot for the measurements that were carried out before the soil moisture stress, four genotypes ('Ac-2', 'Ac-19', 'Ac-30' and 'Ac-41') were clustered around the origin. In contrast, five genotypes ('Ac-3', 'Ac-9', 'Ac-11', 'Ac-28' and 'Ac-35') were distinct and positioned far away from the origin (Fig. 4.5). The genotypes in the right top quadrant (including 'Ac-4', 'Ac-6', 'Ac-7' and 'Ac-28') were associated and characterized by high leaf proline, high degree of stomatal opening and tall shoots. However, the genotypes that were highly associated with the thickest stems as well as leaf chlorophyll and water content (Fig. 4.6) clustered in the top left quadrant. The biplot analysis for the traits that were measured after the soil moisture stress, three genotypes ('Ac-10', 'Ac-25' and 'Ac-26') were grouped close to the origin while four genotypes ('Ac-6', 'Ac-13', 'Ac-31' and 'Ac-39') were distinct and positioned far away from the origin (Fig. 4.5). The genotypes in the top right quadrant were highly associated both with LPC and RWC but high leaf chlorophyll was associated with the genotypes that were grouped in the left top quadrant while the remainder of the genotypes were characterized by thick stems and grouped in the left bottom quadrant.





Table 4.5 Principal component analysis showing the eigenvector, eigenvalue and cumulative percentage of the first five principal component axes for six phenotypic traits among tepary bean genotypes before soil moisture stress.

Troit	Eigenvector					
Tait	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	
Leaf proline content	0.480	0.580	-0.015	-0.292	-0.056	
Leaf chlorophyll content	-0.138	0.507	-0.556	0.334	-0.472	
Relative water content	-0.410	0.491	0.096	-0.541	0.379	
Stomatal conductance	0.508	0.063	-0.329	0.291	0.682	
Stem diameter	-0.365	0.349	0.391	0.641	0.286	
Shoot height	0.431	0.197	0.649	0.121	-0.288	
Eigenvalue	1.522	1.207	1.123	0.895	0.792	
Variability (%)	25.368	20.123	18.726	14.922	13.204	
Cumulative (%)	25.368	45.491	64.217	79.139	92.344	

Table 4.6 Principal component analysis showing the eigenvector, eigenvalue and cumulative percentage of the first five principal component axes for six phenotypic traits among tepary bean genotypes after soil moisture stress.

Troit	Eigenvector						
Trait	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5		
Leaf proline content	0.159	0.630	0.266	0.410	-0.557		
Leaf chlorophyll content	0.462	-0.275	0.551	-0.283	-0.276		
Relative water content	0.604	0.082	0.135	-0.291	0.314		
Stomatal conductance	0.508	-0.001	-0.199	0.641	0.416		
Stem diameter	-0.253	-0.487	0.581	0.485	0.114		
Shoot height	-0.272	0.533	0.479	-0.141	0.573		
Eigenvalue	1.779	1.321	0.962	0.804	0.693		
Variability (%)	29.653	22.023	16.035	13.400	11.544		
Cumulative (%)	29.653	51.676	67.711	81.110	92.655		





Fig. 4.5 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42 tepary bean genotypes estimated using the data set of phenotypic traits before soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm)).



Fig. 4.6 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42 tepary bean genotypes estimated using the data set of phenotypic traits after soil moisture stress. (LPC = leaf proline content; LCC = leaf chlorophyll content; RWC = relative water content; SC = stomatal conductance; SD = stem diameter (cm); SH = shoot height (cm)).



4.7 Clustering pattern of the genotypes

The tepary bean genotypes were grouped into three main clusters (Fig. 4.7). Most of the genotypes (64.28%) were grouped in cluster III while cluster I consisted of only seven genotypes including 'Ac-40' (which was associated with high LCC) as well as 'Ac-2', 'Ac-35', and 'Ac-37' (which were characterized by both LPC and RWC). The check (genotype 'Ac-34') was grouped in cluster III in a sub-cluster with genotype 'Ac-20' (Fig. 4.7). In addition, the bulk (57.0%) of the tallest genotypes were grouped into cluster III.



Fig. 4.7 Dendrogram of 42 tepary bean genotypes for six studied variables using hierarchical cluster analysis (ward's method and squared Euclidean distance)



5.0 CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

The results showed significant phenotypic variation among genotypes tested in response to soil moisture stress which suggested the potential for selection of parental lines for improving tepary bean for specific traits. The significant genotypic variability which was observed in the study indicated that the germplasm contained genotypes with considerable levels of soil moisture stress tolerance that can be exploited in drought tolerance breeding programs of tepary bean. Leaf proline content is an important selection criteria in screening genotypes for drought tolerance (Solanki et al., 2014).

The pattern of relationships between genotypes and the phenotypic attributes was influenced by the prevailing soil moisture status. The genotypes were scattered in the biplot before and after the soil moisture stress was imposed indicating that the genotypes were genetically diverse for the physiological and growth parameters that were evaluated and can be used for developing breeding populations. For example, some genotypes were associated with the thickest stems (for instance, 'Ac-8' and 'Ac-11') and high leaf chlorophyll only after the soil moisture stress was imposed indicating that selection for such traits required the stress conditions. However, some of the genotypes exhibited relatively high leaf proline in both moisture stress regimes suggesting that the candidacy of such genotypes in a breeding program aimed at selecting for high proline, can be validated subsequently under soil moisture stress conditions. The observed increase in leaf proline was expected and in agreement with the findings that were reported in previous studies (Masoumi et al., 2011; Solanki and Sarangi, 2014). In a similar study aimed at proline evaluation in cowpea, the genotypes showed highly significant variability in leaf proline content after five weeks of drought stress ranging from 0.39 µmol/g dry weight to 8.81 µmol dry weight (Nkoana et al., 2019). The amino acid is associated with plant adaptation to moisture stress conditions as it protects the plant from adverse environmental stresses (Ashraf et al., 2007; Kaur and Asthir, 2015). Drought tolerant genotypes that were associated with elevated leaf proline levels under soil moisture stress were identified in a wide range of field crops including sunflower (Unyayar et al., 2004; Cechin et al., 2006) and wheat (Triticum aestivum) (Vendruscolo et al., 2007; Saeedipour, 2013). In cowpea (Vigna anguiculata), which was exposed to water deficit, the up-regulation of the expression of the proline synthesis gene with a concomitant down-regulation of the proline catabolism gene, was reported (Zegaoui et al., 2017). The metabolic role of proline in plants under drought conditions is well documented (Yoshiba et al., 1997; Ashraf and Foolad, 2007; Verbruggen and Hermans, 2008; Szabados and Savouré, 2010). The ability to withstand soil moisture stress was also attributed to profuse branching of the root system (Butare et al., 2011). In this study, the metabolic role of proline likely contributed to the ability of some of the genotypes to withstand soil moisture stress since the space for profuse root branching was



limited by the trays that were used. The metabolism of proline apparently enhances cellular signaling processes by increasing the formation of reactive oxygen species in the mitochondria via the electron transport chain, hence promoting cellular survival or apoptosis (Liang et al., 2013). Probably, the metabolic function of proline together with other inactive metabolites (such as trehalose, or sorbitol or mannitol among others) which were not measured in this study, also contributed to stress tolerance by maintaining membrane integrity or stabilizing proteins as well as balancing cellular redox during the soil moisture stress period (Hasanuzzaman et al., 2019). Nonetheless, the variation in root morphological traits could be a useful additional criterion to evaluate. A preliminary study that was conducted to characterize tepary bean root attributes under well-watered conditions found significant variation in primary root length as well as the number of secondary roots (Nong, 2019, *unpublished*) (Appendix 1).

Although the results of this study showed a marked reduction in leaf chlorophyll due to the soil moisture stress among the tepary bean genotypes, other studies reported no change to chlorophyll induced by drought (Cechin et al., 2006). Probably, this discrepancy could be attributed to the differences in the duration and methodology that was used to induce the soil moisture stress. In this study, the leaves of most genotypes turned yellow (chlorotic) indicating diminished chlorophyll. Nonetheless, there were some individual plants that remained green suggesting that the level of chlorophyll in such plants was not affected by the soil moisture stress during the duration of the stress treatment. In addition, it was tempting to conclude that such genotypes were tolerant to drought. However, further validation of the genotypes will be merited before concluding unequivocally that such genotypes tolerated soil moisture stress. Nonetheless, the individual plants that remained green throughout the stress period could be of interest as potential sources of stay-green genes which have been reported widely in other legumes such as bean (Bachmann, et al., 1994) and soybean (Luguez and Guiamét, 2002; Chang et al., 2019) as well as in cereals (Spano et al., 2003; Yoo et al., 2007). Furthermore, there were other attributes, apart from the leaf chlorophyll, that were used to evaluate the response of the genotypes to soil moisture stress although the results revealed that there was no clear pattern in terms of the impact of the moisture stress on both the relative water content and the stomatal conductance. In a previous study involving polyethylene glycol to induce drought stress in tepary bean, there was a detectable effect on the relative water content (Turkan et al., 2005). Recently, low stomatal conductance was strongly associated with soil moisture stress in tepary bean (Traub et al., 2017). The exposure to soil moisture stress triggers the accumulation of abscisic acid which leads to an efflux of ions from the guard cells followed by stomatal closure (Mori and Murata, 2011) which inadvertently limits photosynthesis by restricting carbon dioxide influx (Chaves, 1991).



The genotypes that were distinct and found far away from the origin in the principal component biplot analysis indicated that they probably possessed some peculiar genes that can be used in the genetic enhancement of tepary bean. In addition, when evaluated in multiple locations, such genotypes were located far away from the origin, were more responsive to environmental fluctuations and therefore classified as specifically adapted genotypes (Teressa et al., 2021). In similar previous studies that utilized the biplot analysis approach, distinct genotypes were also detected for various crop germplasm including cowpea (Nkoana et al., 2019), white bean (Abel et al., 2019), wheat (Hagos and Abay, 2013) and sorghum (Teressa et al., 2021). In addition, the cluster analysis further differentiated the genotypes into three main groups with subgroups, thus providing a better understanding of the differences and similarities which existed between them. The genetic distances between some of the genotypes suggested the presence of genetic diversity in the germplasm which is valuable in the selection of parental lines for improving tolerance to soil moisture stress in tepary bean.



6.0 Chapter Six: Conclusion and Recommendations

Based on the results of this study, tepary bean genotypes showed a wide range of variability for all the traits that were considered before and after soil moisture stress. The PCA revealed three distinct genotypes ('Ac-6', 'Ac-18' and 'Ac-28') under the moisture stress regime that can be considered for further investigation particularly under field conditions to determine their grain yield potential. The classification of tepary bean genotypes was not consistent when they were evaluated prior in the one soil moisture stress regime indicating their diversity in performances depending on the soil moisture status. The current study was conducted in a greenhouse as a rapid method to determine the differences in response to soil moisture stress among several tepary bean genotypes.

There will be merit in conducting further studies to determine the yield potential of the genotypes selected in this study in multiple field testing locations. Furthermore, the future selection of tepary bean genotypes that are highly tolerant to drought may also require a concomitant evaluation of their nutritional attributes since it is utilized mainly as a food crop. There could be also some merit in initiatives aimed at developing fodder varieties to optimize food security particularly in the smallholder livestock – cropping farming systems.





References

- Abiala M. A., Abdelrahman M., Burritt D. J. and Tran L. P. (2018). Salt stress tolerance mechanisms and potential applications of legumes for sustainable reclamation of salt-degraded soils. *Land Degradation and Development* 29: 1 11.
- Abel M. F., Berhanu A. and Dagmawit T. (2019). Additive main effects and Additive main effects and multiplicative interaction (AMMI) and genotype main effect and genotype by environment interaction (GGE) biplot analysis of large white bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) genotypes across environments in Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 14: 2135 - 2145.
- Abdelrahman M., Jogaiah S., Burritt D. J. and Tran L. P. (2018). Legume genetic resources and transcriptome dynamics under abiotic stress Conditions. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 41: 1972 - 1983.
- Ahmed F., Rafil M. Y., Ismail M. R., Juraimi A. S., Rahim H. A., Asfaliza R. and Latif M. A. (2012). Waterlogging tolerance of crops: breeding, mechanism of tolerance, molecular approaches, and future prospects. *BioMed Research International* 2013: 1 10.
- Ajayi A. T. (2022). Screening for drought tolerance in cowpea at the flowering stage. International Journal of Science Letters 4: 236 - 268.
- Akande S. R., Olakojo S. A., Owolade O. F., Adetumbi J. A., Adeniyan O. N. and OgunbodedB. A. (2012). Planting date affects cowpea seed yield and quality at southern GuineaSavanna, Nigeria. Seed Technology 34: 79 88.
- Ali S., Hayat K., Iqbal A. and Xie L. (2020). Implications of abscisic acid in the drought stress tolerance of plants. *Agronomy* 10: 2 27.
- Alidu M. S., Asante I. K., Tongoona P., Ofori K., Danguah A. Padi F. K. (2019). Development and screening of cowpea recombinant inbred lines for seedling drought tolerance. *Plant Breeding and Crop Science* 11: 1 - 10.
- Araújo S. S., Beebe S. and Crespi M. (2015). Abiotic stress responses in legumes: strategies used to cope with environmental challenges. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 34: 237 - 280.
- Ashraf M. A. (2012). Waterlogging stress in plants: a review. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 7: 1976 - 1981.
- Ashraf M. and Foolad M. R. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 59: 206 - 216.



- Baath G. S., Northup B. K., Gowda P. H., Rocateli A. C. and Singh H. (2020). Summer forage capabilities of tepary bean and gaur in the southern Great Plains. *Agronomy* 112: 2879 2890.
- Bachmann A., Fernándes-López J., Ginsburg S., Thomas H., Bouwkamp J. C., Solomos T., and Matile P. (1994). Stay-green genotypes of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. chloroplast proteins and chlorophyll catabolites during foliar senescence. *New Phytologist* 126: 593 - 600.
- Bailey R. A. and Speed T. P. (1986). Rectangular lattice designs: efficiency factors and analysis. *The annals of statistics* 14: 874 895.
- Baroowa B. and Gogoi N. (2013). Biochemical changes in two *Vigna* species during drought and subsequent recovery. *Plant Physiology* 18: 319 325.
- Bates L. S., Waldren R. P. and Teare I. D. (1973). Rapid determination of free proline for water-stress studies. *Plant and Soil* 39: 205 207.
- Bayoumi T. Y., Eid M. H. and Metwali E. M. (2008). Application of physiological and biochemical indices as a screening technique for drought tolerance in wheat genotypes. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7: 2341 2352.
- Beebe S. E., Rao I. M., Blair M. W. and Acosta Gallegos J. A. (2013). Phenotyping common beans for adaptation to drought. *Frontiers in Physiology* 4: 1 15.
- Belachew K. Y., Nagel K. A., Poorter H. and Stoddard F. L. (2019). Association of shoot and root responses to water deficit in young faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) plants. *Frontiers in Plant* 10: 1 - 9.
- Bellaloui N., Smith J. R., Gillen A. M. and Ray J. D. (2011). Effects of maturity, genotypic background, and temperature on seed mineral composition in near-isogenic soybean lines in the early soybean production system. *Crop Science* 51: 1161 - 1171.
- Bhardwaj H. L. (2013). Preliminary evaluation of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray) as a forage crop. *Agricultural Science* 5: 160 166.
- Bhardwaj H. L. and Hamama A. A. (2004). Protein and mineral composition of tepary bean seed. *HortScience* 40: 1363 1365.
- Bhardwaj H. L. and Hamama, A. A. (2005). Oil and fatty acid composition of tepary bean seed. *HortScience* 40: 1436 - 1438.
- Bhardwaj H. L., Rangappa M. and Hamama A. A. (2002). Planting date and genotype effects on tepary bean productivity. *HortScience* 37: 317 318.



- Blair M. W., Pantoja W. and Muñoz L. C. (2012). First use of microsatellite markers in a large collection of cultivated and wild accessions of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray). *Theoretical and applied genetics* 125: 1137 - 1147.
- Blum A. (2011). Drought resistance is it really a complex trait? *Functional Plant Biology* 38: 753 757.
- Boslaugh S. and Watters P. A. (2008). *Statistics: a desktop quick refence*. O' Really Media: Sebastopol, California.
- Bouslama M. and Schapaugh Jr W. T. (1984). Stress tolerance in soybeans. Part 1: evaluation of three screening techniques for heat and drought tolerance (seed germination, hydroponic seedling test, hardiness). *Crop Science* 24: 933 937.
- Bray E. A. (1997). Molecular responses to water deficit. Plant Physiology 103: 1035 1040.
- Bray E. A. (1993). Molecular responses to water deficit. Molecular Plant Science 2: 48 54.
- Bruce W. B., Edmeades G. O. and Barker T. C. (2002). Molecular and physiological approaches to maize improvement for drought tolerance. *Experimental Botany* 53: 13 25.
- Butare L., Rao I. M., Lepoivre P., Polania J., Cajiao C., Cuasquer J. and Beebe S. (2011).
 New genetic sources of resistance in the genus *Phaseolus* to individual and combined aluminium toxicity and progressive soil drying stresses. *Euphytica* 181: 385 404.
- Cao D., Li Y., Liu B., Kong F. and Tran L. S. P. (2018). Adaptive mechanisms of soybean growth on salt-affected soils. *Land* Degradation *and Development* 29: 1054 1064.
- Cechin I., Rossi S. C., Oliveira V. C. and Fumis T. F. (2006). Photosynthetic responses and proline content of mature and young leaves of sunflower plants under water deficit. *Photosynthetica* 44: 143 146.
- Chater C. C., Caine R. S., Fleming A. J. and Gray J. E. (2017). Origins and evolution of stomatal development. *Plant Physiology* 174: 624 638.
- Chang H. X., Tan R., Hartman G. L., Wen Z., Sang H., Domier L. L., Whitham S. A., Wang D. and Chilvers M. I. (2019). Characterization of soybean stay-green genes in susceptibility to foliar chlorosis of sudden death syndrome. *Plant Physiology* 180: 711 - 717.
- Chaves M. (1991). Effects of water deficits on carbon assimilation. *Experimental Botany* 42: 1 16.



- Chen L., Ren F., Zhou L., Wang Q. Q., Zhong H. and Li X. B. (2012). The Brassica napus calcineurin B-Like 1/CBL-interacting protein kinase 6 (CBL1/CIPK6) components is involved in the plant response to abiotic stress and ABA signaling. *Experimental Botany* 63: 6211 - 6222.
- Chen Y., Ghanem M. E. and Siddique K. H. (2017). Characterizing root trait variability in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) germplasm. *Experimental Botany* 68: 1987 1999.
- Christmann A., Weiler E. W., Steudle E. and Grill E. (2007). A hydraulic signal in root-to-shoot signaling of water shortage. *The Plant Journal* 52: 167 174.
- Clarke J. M. and McCaig T. N. (1982). Evaluation of techniques for screening for drought resistance in wheat. *Crop Science* 22: 503 506.
- Crespo-Muñoz S., Rivera-Peña M., Rosero-Alpala D. A., Muñoz-Florez J. E., Rao I. M. and Muñoz-Florez L. C. (2018). Pollen viability of tepary bean (Phaseolus acutifolius A. Gray) mutant lines under water stress conditions and inoculation with rhizobia. *Agronomic Act* 67: 319 - 325.
- Cuellar-Ortiz S. M., Arrieta-Montiel M. P., Acosta-Gallegos J. A. and Covarrubias A. A. (2008). Relationship between carbohydrate partitioning and drought resistance in common bean. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 31: 1399 - 1409.
- De Ronde J. A. and Spreeth M. H. (2007). Development and evaluation of drought resistant mutant germplasm of Vigna unguiculata. *Water South Africa* 33: 381 386.
- Dipp C. C., Marchese J. A., Woyann L. G., Bosse M. A., Roman M. H., Gobatto D. R., Paludo F., Fedrigo K., Kovali K. K. and Finatto T. (2017). Drought stress tolerance in common bean: what about highly cultivated Brazillian genotypes? *Euphytica* 213: 1 16.
- Duncan A. J. (1956). The economic design of X charts used to maintain current control of a process. *American Statistical Association* 51: 228 242.
- Esack E.R., Shanmugam A., Palanisamy V., Lakshmipathy V., Chandrashekara K. N. and Rajagopal R. K. (2015). Screening of tea progenies for tolerance to drought stress using multivariate statistical techniques. *Scientia Horticulturae 197*: 157 - 165.
- Ezeaku I. E., Echezona B. C., Baiyeri K. P. and Mbah B. N. (2014). Seasonal and genotypic influence of insect pests, growth and yield of Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp). *American Journal of Experimental Agriculture* 4: 1658 - 1667.



- Ezeaku I. E., Mbah B. N. and Baiyeri K. P. (2015). Planting date and cultivar effects on growth and yield performance of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp). *African Journal of Plant Science* 9: 439 - 448.
- Fang Y. and Xiong L. (2015). General mechanisms of drought response and their application in drought resistance improvement in plants. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 72: 673 - 689.
- FAO. (2015). Understanding mountain soils: A contribution from mountain areas to the international year of soils 2015. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy. 30 - 42.
- FAO, ITPS. (2015). Status of the world's soil resources (SWSR) Main report. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy. 648.
- Farooq M., Hussain M. and Siddique K. H. (2014). Drought stress in wheat during flowering and grain - filling periods. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 33: 331 - 349.
- Farooq M., Gogoi N., Barthakur S., Baroowa B., Bharadwaj N., Alghamdi S. S and Sliddique K. H. M. (2016). Drought stress in grain legumes during reproduction and grain filling. *Agronomy and Crop Science* 203: 81 - 102.
- Fenta B. A., Beebe S. E., Kunert K. J., Burridge J. D., Barlow K. M. and Lynch P. J. (2014). Field phenotyping of soybean roots for drought stress tolerance. *Agronomy* 4: 418 -435.
- Fenta B. A., Driscoll S. P., Kunert K. J. and Foyer C. H. (2012). Characterization of droughttolerance traits in nodulated soya beans: the importance of maintaining photosynthesis and shoot biomass under drought-induced limitations on nitrogen metabolism. *Agronomy and Crop Science* 198: 92 - 103.
- Fort F., Volaire F., Guilion L., Barkaoui K., Navas M. L. and Roumet C. (2017). Root traits are related to plant water-use among rangeland Mediterranean species. *Functional Ecology* 31: 1700 - 1709.
- França M. G. C., Thi A. T. P., Pimentel C., Rossiello R. O. P., Zuily-Fodil Y. and Laffray D. (2000). Differences in growth and water relations among *Phaseolus vulgaris* cultivars in response to induced drought stress. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 43: 227 - 237.



- Galau G. A., Hughes D. W. and Dure L. (1986). Abscisic acid induction of cloned cotton late embryogenesis-abundant (*Lea*) mRNAs. *Plant Molecular Biology* 7: 155 - 170.
- Gaudin A. C. M., Henry A., Sparks A. H. and Slamet-Loedin I. H. (2013). Taking transgenic rice drought screening to the field. *Experimental Botany* 64: 109 117.
- Ghadimian T., Madani H., Sajedi N., Gomarian M. and Chavoshi S. (2021). Response of tepary bean plant under change in growth condition. *Iranian Journal of Plant Physiology* 11: 3579 - 3588.
- Govindaraj M., Shanmugasundaram P., Sumathi P. and Muthiah A. R. (2010). Simple, rapid and cost effective screening method for drought resistant breeding in pearl millet. *Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding* 1: 590 - 599.
- Gujaria-Verma N., Ramsay L., Sharpe A. G., Sanderson L., Debouck D. G., Taran B. and Bett
 K. E. (2016). Gene-based SNP discovery in tepary bean (*Phaseolus Acutifolius*) and
 common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) for diversity analysis and comparative mapping. *BioMed Central Genomics* 17: 239 245.
- Gwata E.T., Shimelis H. and Matova P. M. (2016). Potential of improving agronomic attributes in tropical legumes using two mutation breeding techniques in Southern Africa. *Alternative Crops and Cropping Systems*. IntechOpen: London, United Kingdom. 71 -85.
- Gwata E. T., Wofford D. S., Pfahler P. L. and Boote K. J. (2004). Genetics of promiscuous nodulation in soybean: nodule dry weight and leaf color score. *Heredity* 95: 154 157.
- Hagos H. G. and Abay F. (2013). AMMI and GGE biplot analysis of bread wheat genotypes in the northern part of Ethiopia. *Plant Breeding and Genetics* 1: 12 18.
- Hamama A. A. and Bhardwaj H. L. (2002). Tepary bean: A short duration summer crop in
 Virginia. In: Janick J. and Whipkey A. (eds). *Trends in new crops and new uses*.
 American Society for Horticultural Science Press: Alexandria, Virginia. 429 431.
- Hamidou F., Zombre G. and Braconnier S. (2007). Physiological and biochemical responses of cowpea genotypes to water stress under glasshouse and field conditions. *Agronomy and crop science* 193: 229 - 237.
- Hasanuzzaman M., Anee T. I., Bhuiyan T. F., Nahar K. and Fujita M. (2019). Emerging role of osmolytes in enhancing abiotic stress tolerance in rice. In: Hasanuzzaman M., Fujita M., Nahar K. and Biswas J. K (eds) *Advances in rice research for abiotic stress tolerance*. Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, United Kingdom. 677 708.



- Hayat S., Hayat Q., Alyemeni M. N., Wani A. S., Pichtel J. and Ahmad A. (2012). Role of proline under changing environments. *Plant Signaling and Behavior* 7: 1456 1466.
- Hayatu M., Muhammad S. Y. and Habibu U. A. (2014). Effect of water stress on the leaf relative water content and yield of some cowpea (*Vigna Unguiculata* (L) Walp) genotype. *International journal of scientific and technology research* 3: 148 - 152.
- Heredia-Rodriguez L., Gaytan-Martinez M., Morales-Sanchez E., Garza-Juarez A. J., Urias-Orona V., Gonzalez-Martinez B. E., Lopez-Cabanillas Lomeli M. and Vazquez-Rodriguez J. A. (2019). Nutritional and technological properties of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) cultivated Mexican Northeast. *Food Science* 37: 62 68.
- Hu G., Liu H., Yin Y. and Song Z. (2016). The role of legumes in plant community succession of degraded grasslands in northen China. *Land Degradation and Development* 27: 366 - 372.
- Ishiyaku M. F. and Aliyu H. (2013). Field evaluation of cowpea genotypes for drought tolerance and striga resistance in the dry savannah of the north-west Nigeria. *International Journal of Plant Breeding* 7: 47 - 56.
- Jaganathan D., Thudi M., Kale S., Azam S., Roorkiwal M., Gaur P. M., Kishor P. B., Nguyen H., Sutton T and Varshney R. K. (2015). Genotyping by sequencing based intraspecific genetic map refines a 'QTL-hotspot' region for drought tolerance in chickpea. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 290: 559 571.
- Jiri O. and Mafongoya P. L. (2016). Tepary bean: a climate smart crop for food and nutritional security. *Nutrition and Food Sciences* 6. 490.
- Jiri O., Mafongoya P. L. and Chivenge P. (2017). Climate smart crops for food and nutritional security for semi-arid zones of Zimbabwe. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development* 17: 1280 12294.
- Jimenez-Galindo J. C., Alvarez-Iglesias L., Revilla-Temino P., Jacinto-soto R., Garcia-Dominguez L. E., Fuente-Martinez M. and Osorno J. M. (2018). Screening for drought tolerance in tepary bean based on osmotic potential assays. *Plant* 6: 24 - 32.
- Jones M. M and Turner N. C. (1978). Osmotic adjustment in leaves of sorghum in response to water deficit. *Plant Physiology* 61: 122 - 126.
- Kashiwagi J., Krishnamurthy L., Purushothaman R., Upadhyaya H. D., Gaur P. M., Gowda C. L. L., Ito O., Varshney R. K. (2015). Scope for improvement of yield under drought



through the root traits in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Field Crops Research* 170: 47 - 54.

- Kashiwagi J., Krishnamurthy L., Upadhyaya H. D., Krishna H., Chandra S., Vadez V. and Serraj R. (2005). Genetic variability of drought-avoidance root traits in the mini-core germplasm collection of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Euphytica 146*: 213 - 222.
- Kaur G. and Asthir B. (2015). Proline: a key player in plant abiotic stress tolerance. *Biologia Plantarum* 59: 609 619.
- Khan H. R., Link W., Hocking T. J. and Stoddard F. L. (2007). Evaluation of physiological traits for improving drought tolerance in faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.). *Plant Soil* 292: 205 217.
- Khazaei H., Street K., Santanen A., Bari A. and Stoddard F. L. (2013). Do faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) accessions from environments with contrasting seasonal moisture availabilities differ in stomatal characteristics and related traits? *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 60: 2343 2357.
- Khazaei H., Wach D., Pecio A., Vandenberg A. and Stoddard F. L. (2019). Genetic analysis of photosynthesis-related traits in faba bean (Vicia faba L.) for crop improvement. *Plant Breeding* 138: 761 - 769.
- Kishor P. B. K., Sangam S., Amrutha R. N., Sri Laxmi P., Naidu K. R., Rao K. R. S. S., Rao S., Reddy K. J., Theriappan P. and Sreenivasulu N. (2005). Regulation of proline biosynthesis, degradation, uptake and transport in higher plants: its implications in plant growth and abiotic stress tolerance. *Current Science* 88: 424 438.
- Kusolwa P. M. and Myers J. R. (2011). Seed storage proteins Arl2 and its variants from the APA locus of wild tepary bean G40199 confers resistance to A. obtectus when expressed in common beans. *African Crop Science* 19: 255 265.
- Lazcano-Ferrat I. and Lovatt C. J. (1999). Relationship between relative water content, nitrogen pools and growth of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. and *Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray during water deficit. Crop Science 39: 467 475.
- Leal-Delgado R., Peña-Valdivia C. B., García-Esteva A., Martínez-Barajas E. and Padilla-Chacón D. (2019). Phenotypical, physiological and biochemical traits of the vegetative growth of wild tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) under restricted water conditions. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil* 36: 216 - 270.
- Lesk C., Rowhani P. and Ramankutty N. (2016). Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature* 529: 84 87.



- Liang X., Zhang L., Natarajan S. K. and Becker D. F. (2013). Proline mechanisms of stress survival. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling* 19: 998 - 1011.
- Liebenberg A. J. (2002). Dry bean production. *Directorate Agricultural Information Services, Department of Agriculture in cooperation with ARC-Grain Crops Institute*. Department of Agriculture: Pretoria, South Africa. 1- 27.
- Lopes M. S. and Reynolds M. P. (2010). Partitioning of assimilates to deeper roots is associated with cooler canopies and increased yield under drought in wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* 37: 147 156.
- Lugojan C. and Ciulca S. (2011). Evaluation of relative water content in winter wheat. *Horticulture Forestry Biotechnology* 15: 173 - 177.
- Luquez V. M. and Guiamét J. J. (2002). The stay green mutations d1 and d2 increase water stress susceptibility in soybeans. *Experimental Botany* 53: 1421 1428.
- Lynch J. P. (2013). Steep, cheap and deep: an ideotype to optimize water and N acquisition by maize root systems. *Annals of Botany* 112: 347 357.
- Mafakheri A., Siosemardeh A., Bahramnejad B., Struik P. C. and Sohrabi Y. (2010). Effect of drought stress on yield, proline and chlorophyll contents in three chickpea cultivars. *Australian Journal of Crop Science 4*: 580 585.
- Mapp C. D., Knight-Mason R. and Bhardwaj H. L. (2016). Symbiotic N fixation: nodulation of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray). *Plant Science and Research* 3: 1 5.
- Markhart III, A. H. (1985). Comparative water relations of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L and *Phaseolus acutifolius* Gray. *Plant Physiology* 77: 113 117.
- Markwell J., Osterman J. C. and Mitchell J. L. (1995). Calibration of the Minolta SPAD-502 leaf chlorophyll meter. *Photosynthesis Research* 46: 467 - 472.
- Masoumi H., Darvish F., Daneshian J., Nourmohammadi G. and Habibi D. (2011). Chemical and biochemical responses of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) cultivars to water deficit stress. *Australian Journal of Crop Science 5*: 544 553.
- Mathobo R., Marais D. and Steyn J. M. (2017). The effect of drought stress on yield, leaf gaseous exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence of dry beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Agricultural Water Management* 180: 118 125.
- Mhlaba Z. B., Mashilo J., Shimelis H., Assefa A. B. and Modi A. T. (2018). Progress in genetic analysis and breeding of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray): A review. *Scientia Horticulturae* 237: 112 - 119.



- Miklas P. N. and Santiago J. (1996). Reaction of select tepary bean to bean golden mosaic virus. *HortScience* 31: 430 432.
- Mohamed F., Mohamed M. and Schmitz-Eiberger N. (2005). Comparative drought postponing and tolerance potentials of two tepary bean lines in relation to seed yield. *African Crop Science* 13: 49 - 60.
- Mohrmann M. D., Bhardwaj H. L., Shen H., and Knight-Mason R. (2017). Symbiotic N fixation: plant-microbe interaction between tepary bean and bradyrhizobium strains. *Plant Science and Research* 4: 1 - 4.
- Mohamed M. F. and Noga G. (2002). Dehydration-avoidance responses of tepary bean lines differing in drought resistance. *Plant Physiology* 159: 31 38.
- Mohamed M. F. and Tawfik A. A. (2007). Intact plant, callus and field grain yields responses of tepary bean to drought. *Agronomy and Crop Science* 193: 305 312.
- Molosiwa O. O. and Kgokong S. B. (2018). Effect of planting date on tepary bean yield and yield components sown in Southern Botswana. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 13: 137 143.
- Molosiwa O. O., Kgokong S. B., Makwala B., Gwafila C. and Ramokapane M. G. (2014). Genetic diversity of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) landraces grown in Botswana. *Plant Breeding and Crop Science* 6: 194 - 199.
- Mori I. C. and Murata Y. (2011). ABA signaling in stomatal guard cells: Lessons from Commelina and Vicia. *Plant Research* 124: 477 487.
- Mori I. C., Murata Y., Yang Y., Munemasa S., Wang Y. F., Andreoli S., Tiriac H., Alonso J. M., Harper J. F. and Ecker J. R. (2006). CDPKs CPK6 and CPK3 function in ABA regulation of guard cell S-type anion-and Ca²-permeable channels and stomatal closure. *PLoS Biology* 10: 1749 - 1759.
- Morgan J. M., Hare R. A. and Fletcher R. J. (1986). Genetic variation in osmoregulation in bread and durum wheat and its relationship to grain yield in a range of field environments. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 37: 449 457.
- Muñoz L. C., Debouck D. G., Rivera A., Muñoz J. E., Alpala D., Sarsu F. and Rao I. M. (2021).
 Mutation breeding for heat and drought tolerance in tepary bean (Phaseoulus acutifolius A. Gray). *Australian Journal of Crop Science* 15: 60 68.



- Muñoz-Perea C. G., Terán H., Allen R. G., Wright J. L., Westermann D. T. and Singh S. P. (2006). Selection for drought resistance in dry bean landrances and cultivars. *Crop Science* 46: 2111 - 2120.
- Mwadzingeni L., Shimelis H., Tesfay S. and Tsilo T. J. (2916). Screening of bread wheat genotypes for drought tolerance using phenotypic and proline analyses. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: 2 9.
- Mwale S. E., Shimelis H., Mafongoya P. and Mashilo J. (2020). Breeding tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) for drought adaptation: a review. *Plant Breeding* 139: 821 833.
- Nabhan G. P. and Felger R. S. (1978). "Teparies in Southwestern North America. A biogeographical and ethnohistorical study of *Phaseolus acutifolius*". *Economic Botany* 32: 3 19.
- Ndima T., Farrant J., Thompson J. and Mundree S. (2001). Molecular characterization of XVT8, a stress-responsive gene from the resurrection plants Xerophyta viscosa Baker. *Plant Growth Regulation* 35: 137 145.
- Nelson D., Salamini F. and Bartels D. (1994). Abscisic acid promotes novel DNA-binding activity to a desiccation-related promoter of *craterostigma plantagineum*. *The Plant Journal* 5: 451 458.
- Nkoana D. K., Gerrano A. S. and Gwata E. T. (2019). Agronomic performance and genetic variability of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) accessions. *Legume Research* 42: 757 762.
- Nkoana K. D., Gerrano A. S. and Gwata E. T. (2019). Evaluation of diverse cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp] Germplasm accessions for drought tolerance. Legume Research 42: 168 - 172.
- Nkomo G. V., Sedibe M. M. and Mofokeng M. A. (2020). Phenotyping cowpea accessions at the seedling stage for drought tolerance using the pot method. *BioRxiv Preprint* 1: 1-17.
- Omae H., KUMAR a., Egawa Y., Kashiwaba K. and Shono M. (2005). Midday drop of leaf water content related to drought tolerance in snap bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L). *Plant Production Science* 8: 465 467.
- Pang J., Turner N. C., Du Y. L., Colmer T. D. and Siddique K. H. M. (2017). Pattern of water use and seed yield under terminal drought in chickpea genotypes. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8: 1 - 13.



- Parry M., Flexas J. and Medrano H. (2005). Prospects for crop production under drought: research priorities and future directions. *Annals of Applied Biology* 147: 211 226.
- Parry M. A., Madgwick P. J. and Bayon C. (2009). Mutation discovery for crop improvement. *Experimental Botany* 60: 2817 - 2825.
- Polania J., Poschenrieder C., Beebe S. and Rao I. M. (2016). Effective use of water and increased dry matter partitioned to grain contribute to yield of common bean improved for drought resistance. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7: 1 10.
- Porch T. G., Beaver J. S., Debouck D. G., Jackson S. A., Kelly J. D. and Dempewolf H. (2013). Use of wild relatives and closely related species to adapt common bean to climate change. *Agronomy* 3: 433 - 461.
- Porch T. G., Cichy K., Wang W., Brick M., Beave J. S., Santana-Morant D. and Grusak, M. A. (2017). Nutritional composition and cooking characteristics of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* Gray) in comparison with common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 64: 935 - 953.
- Pouresmael M., Khavari-Nejad R. A., Mozafari J., Najafi F. and Moradi F. (2013). Efficiency of screening criteria for drought tolerance in chickpea. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science* 59: 1675 - 1693.
- Pushpavalli R., Zaman Allah M., Turner N. C., Baddam R., Rao M. V. and Vadez V. (2014).
 Higher flower and seed number leads to higher yield under water stress conditions imposed during reproduction in chickpea. *Functional Plant Biology* 42: 162 174.
- Rabbani M. A., Maruyama K., Abe H., Khan MA., Katsura K., Ito Y., Yoshiwara K., Seki M., Shinozaki K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2003). Monitoring expression profiles of rice genes under cold, drought, and high-salinity stresses and abscisic acid application using cDNA microarray and RNA gel-blot analyses. *Plant Physiology* 133:1755 - 1767.
- Raghavendra A. S., Gonugunta V. K., Christmann A. and Grill E. (2010). *Trends in Plant Science* 15: 395 - 401.
- Rahbarian R., Khavari-Nejad R., Ganjeali A., Bagheri A. and Najafi F. (2011). Drought stress effects on photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence and water relations in tolerant and susceptible chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) genotypes. *Acta Biologica Cracoviensia Series Botanica* 53: 47 - 56.
- Rana M. K. and Jatav P. K. (2017). Tepary bean. *Vegetable Crop Science*. Chemical Rubber Company (CRC) Press: Boca Raton, Florida. 767 - 774.



- Rao I., Beebe S., Polania J., Ricaurte J., Cajiao C., Garcia R. and Rivera M. (2013). Can tepary bean be a model for improvement of drought resistance in common bean? *African Crop Science* 21: 265 - 281.
- Rao I. M., Beebe S. and Polania J. (2017). Evidence for genotypic differences among elite lines of common bean in the ability to remobilize photosynthate to increase yield under drought. *Agricultural Science* 155: 857 - 875.
- Rebetzke G. J., Read J. J., Barbour M. M., Condon A. G. and Rawson H. M. (2000). A handheld porometer for rapid assessment of leaf conductance in wheat. *Crop Science* 40: 277 - 280.
- Ricciardi L. (1989). Plant breeding for resistance to drought. Part 1: stomatal traits in genotypes of *Vicia faba* L. *Agricultural Medicine* 119: 297 308.
- Ringńer M. (2008). What is principal component analysis. *Nature Biotechnology* 26: 303 304.
- Runkulatile H. H. E., Nyabundi J. O. and Ayiecho P. O. (1993). Relationship between leaf water status and varietal adaptation of beans to wet and dry agricultural zones of Kenya. *East African Agricultural and Forestry* 58: 95 - 105.
- Saeedipour S. (2013). Effect of phytohormone seed priming on germination and seedling growth of cowpea (Vigna sinensis L.) under different duration of treatment. *International Journal of Biosciences* 3: 187 192.
- Sade N., Galkin E., and Moshelion M. (2015). Measuring *Arabidopsis*, tomato and barley leaf relative water content (RWC). *Bio-Protocol* 5: 1 4.
- Sadok W. and Sinclair T. R. (2011). Crops yield increase under water–limited conditions: review of recent physiological advances for soybean genetic improvement. *Advances in Agronomy* 113: 313 337.
- Sajedi N., Hidari S. and Madani M. J. (2015). The effects of intergrated management on yield, yield components and weed control of bean. *Iranian Journal of Pulses Research* 6: 139 150.
- SAS (2000). Statistical analysis system (SAS)/ Interactive Matrix Language (IML) User's Guide: Version 8. Statistical analysis system (SAS) institute: Cary, North Carolina.
- Sauter A., Davies W. J. and Hartung W. (2001). The long-distance abscisic acid signal in the droughted plant: the fate of the hormone on its way from root to shoot. *Experimental Botany* 52: 1991 1997.



- Sharma S. and Carena M. J. (2016). BRACE: A method for high throughput maize phenotyping of root traits for short-season drought tolerance. *Crop Science* 56: 2996 3004.
- Shisanya C. A. (2004). Improvement of grain legume production in semi-arid Kenya through biological nitrogen fixation: the experience with tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray Var. Latifolius). *Production Practices and Quality Assessment of Food Crops* 1: 163 188.
- Shisanya C. A. (2005). Economic analysis of maize-tepary bean production using a soil fertility replenishment product (PREP-PAC) in semi-arid Eastern Kenya. *Food, Agriculture and Environment* 3: 208 212.
- Siddiqui M. H., Al-Khaishany M. Y., Al-Qutami M. A., Al-Whaibi M. H., Grover A., Ali H. A., Al-Wahibi M. S. and Bukhari N. A. (2015). Response of different genotypes of faba bean plant to drought stress. *International Journal of Molecular Science* 16: 10214 - 10227.
- Singh A. P. and Muñoz C. G. (1999). Resistance to common bacterial blight among *Phaseolus* species and common bean improvement. *Crop Science* 39: 80 89.
- Singh S. K. and Reddy K. R. (2011). Regulation of photosynthesis, fluorescence, stomatal conductance and water-use efficiency of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) under drought. Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Bilogy 105: 40 - 50.
- Sloane R. J., Patterson R. P. and Carter Jr T. E. (1990). Field drought tolerance of a soybean plant introduction. *Crop Science* 30: 118 123.
- Small E. (2014). Tepary bean an ideal arid zone crop. Biodiversity 15: 220 228.
- Solanki J. K and Sarangi S. K. (2014). Effect of drought stress on proline accumulation in peanut genotypes. *International Journal of Advanced Research* 2: 301 309.
- Souter J. R., Gurusamy V., Porch T. G. and Bett K. E. (2017). Successful introgression of abiotic stress tolerance from wild tepary bean to common bean. *Crop Science* 57: 1160 1171.
- Spano G., Di Fonzo N., Perrotta C., Platani C., Ronga G., Lawlor D. W., Napier J. A. and Shewry P. R. (2003). Physiological characterization of 'stay green'mutants in durum wheat. *Experimental botany* 54: 1415 - 1420.
- Spss I. (2012). International Business Machines statistical package for the social sciences version 21. International Business Machines Corp 126. Boston, Massachusetts.



- Szabados L. and Savouré A. (2010). Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. *Trends in Plant Science* 15: 89 97.
- Taiz L. and Zeiger E. (2010). Responses and adaptations to abiotic stress. Plant Physiology 5th Edition. Sinauer Associates Inc: Sunderland, Massachusetts. 755 778.
- Talebi R., Ensafi M.H., Baghebani N., Karami E. and Mohammadi K. (2013). Physiological responses of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*) genotypes to drought stress. *Environmental and Experimental Biology* 11: 9 15.
- Teressa T., Bejiga T., Semahegn Z., Seyoum A., Kinfe H., Nega A., Ayele L., Nadew D., Salah M., Siraw S., Bekele M., Mitiku S. and Ayalew T. (2021) Evaluation of advanced sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) hybrid genotypes for grain yield in moisture stressed areas of Ethiopia. *Agricultural Science and Food Technology* 7: 212 219.
- Tetteh R. N. (2015). Chemical soil degradation as a result of contamination: a review. *Soil Science and Environmental Management* 6: 301 308.
- Thangwana A., Gwata E. T. and Zhou M. M. (2021). Impact of chemical mutagenesis using ethyl methane sulphonate on tepary bean seedling vigour and adult plant performance. *Heliyon* 7: 2 - 8.
- Thinley J. and Dorji C. (2021). Screening of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) genotypes for drought tolerance. *BioRxiv Preprint* 1: 1 30.
- Traub J., Kelly J. D. and Loescher W. (2017). Early metabolic and photosynthetic responses to drought stress in common and tepary bean. *Crop Science* 57: 1 17.
- Turan O. and Ekmekçi Y. (2011). Activities of photosystem II and antioxidant enzymes in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars exposed to chilling temperatures. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 33: 67 - 78.
- Türkan I., Bor M., Ozdemir F. and Koca H. (2005). Differential responses of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in the leaves of drought-tolerant *Phaseolus. acutifolius* Gray and drought-sensitive *Phaseolus. vulgaris* L. subjected to polyethylene glycol mediated water stress. *Plant Science* 168: 223 - 231.
- Uno Y., Furihata T., Abe H., Yoshida R., Shinozaki K. and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2000). Arabidopsis basic leucine zipper transcription factors involved in an abscisic aciddependent signal transduction pathway under drought and high salinity conditions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97: 11632 -11637.



- Unyayar S., Kelep Y. and Unal E. (2004). Proline and ABA levels in two sunflower genotypes subjected to water stress. *Bulgarian Journal of Plant Physiology* 30: 34 47.
- Urban J., Ingwers M., McGuire M. A. and Teskey R. O. (2017). Stomatal conductance increases with rising temperature. *Plant Signaling and Behavior* 12: 1 3.
- Urrea C. A. and Porch T. (2009). Phenotypic evaluation of a subset of the *Phaseolus vulgaris* core collection and the *Phaseolus acutifolius* germplasm collection, and advanced common bean lines for drought tolerance in Nebraska. *Annual Report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative* 52: 104 105.
- Vadez V., Berger J. D., Warkentin T., Assen S., Ratnakumar P., Rao K. P. C., Gaur P. M., Munier-Jolain N., Larmure A., Voisin A. S., Sharma H. C., Pande S., Sharma M., Krishnamurthy L. and Zaman M. A. (2012). Adaptation of grain legumes to climate change: a review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* 32: 31 - 44.
- Vendruscolo E. C. G., Schuster I., Pileggi M., Scapim C. A., Molinari H. B. C., Marur C. J. and Vieira L. G. E. (2007). Stress-induced synthesis of proline confers tolerance to water deficit in transgenic wheat. *Plant Physiololgy* 164: 1367 - 1376.
- Verbruggen N. and Hermans C. (2008). Proline accumulation in plants: a review. *Amino Acids* 35: 753 759.
- Verslues P. E. and Bray E. A. (2006). Role of abscisic acid (ABA) and *Arabidopsis thaliana* ABA-insensitive loci in low water potential-induced ABA and proline accumulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57: 201 - 212.
- Wasaya A., Zang X., Fang Q. and Yan Z. (2018). Root phenotyping for drought tolerance: A Review. *Agronomy* 8: 1 9.
- Wasson A. P., Richards R. A., Chatrath R., Misra S. C., Prasad S. V., Rebetzke G. J., Kirkegaard J. A., Christopher J. and Watt M. (2012). Traits and selection strategies to improve root systems and water uptake in water limited wheat crops. *Experimental Botany* 63: 3485 - 3498.
- Wijewardana C., Reddy K. R. and Bellaloui N. (2019). Soybean seed physiology, quality and chemical composition under soil moisture stress. *Food Chemistry* 278: 92 100.
- Yan W. and Kang M. S. (2003). Genotype main effect and genotype-by-environment (GGE) biplot analysis: a graphical tool for breeders, geneticists, and agronomists. Chemical Rubber Company Press: Boca Raton, Florida. 13 - 259.



- Ye H., Roorkiwal M., Valliyodan B., Zhou L., Chen P., Varshney R. K. and Nguyen H. T. (2018). Genetic diversity of root system architecture in response to drought stress in grain legumes. *Experimental Botany* 69: 3267 - 3277.
- Yoo S. C., Cho S. H., Zhang H., Paik H. C., Lee C. H., Li J., Yoo J. H., Koh H. J., Seo H. S. and Paek N. C. (2007). Quantitative trait loci associated with functional stay-green SNU-SG1 in rice. *Molecules and Cells* 24: 83 - 94.
- Yoshiba Y., Kiyosue T., Nakashima K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. and Shinozak K. (1997). Regulation of levels of proline as an osmolyte in plants under water stress. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 38: 1095 - 1102.
- Yoshida T., Obata T., Feil R., Lunn J. E., Fujita Y., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. and Fernie A. R. (2019). The role of abscisic acid signaling in maintaining the metabolic balance required for *Arabidosis* growth under nonstress conditions. *The Plant Cell* 31: 84 105.
- Zaman-Allah M., Jenkinson D. M. and Vadez V. (2011). A conservative pattern of water use, rather than deep or profuse rooting, is critical for the terminal drought tolerance of chickpea. *Experimental Botany* 62: 4239 - 4252.
- Zambre M., Van Montagu M., Agenon G. and Terryn N. (2006). Tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*). *Methods of Molecular Biology* 343: 407 414.
- Zegaoui Z., Planchais S., Cabassa C., Djebbar R., Belbachir O. A. and Carol P. (2017). Variation in relative water content, proline accumulation and stress gene expression in two cowpea landraces under drought. *Plant Physiology* 218: 26 - 34.



Appendix I

A Short Communication prepared for a local symposium – (July 2021)

A preliminary evaluation of phenotypic traits of tepary bean germplasm

Nong R. A

Department of Plant and Soil Sciences, University of Venda, Faculty of Science, Engineering and Agriculture, P. Bag X5050, Thohoyandou 0950, South Africa

*Correspondence: refilwenonga@gmail.com

Abstract

Tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray) is an important grain legume in many cropping systems that are prone to drought. The grain of tepary bean is used mainly for human consumption. In South Africa, unimproved landraces are cultivated mainly in Limpopo Province. To date, there are no significant breeding efforts aimed at cultivar development and the crop remains under-utilized. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to evaluate eight phenotypic traits and their relationships among 42 genotypes of tepary bean in a controlled greenhouse environment. A 6 x 7 rectangular lattice design replicated three times was used in the study. The results indicated that there were highly significant (P<0.01) differences in all the phenotypic traits that were measured. The highest number (30) of secondary roots which was observed for genotype 'Ac-39' exceeded the trial mean by 62.87%. In comparison with the check, only three ('Ac-33', 'Ac-39', 'Ac-40') and four ('Ac-7', 'Ac-8', 'Ac-40', 'Ac-41') genotypes achieved a significantly (P<0.05) higher secondary root length (SRL) and shoot dry weight (SDW), respectively. There was a highly significant (P < 0.01) positive correlation between the shoot fresh weight and the shoot dry weight among the genotypes suggesting that there was a strong linear relationship between the two parameters. Similarly, at least 68.0% of the changes in root dry weight were attributed to the changes in the secondary root length. These results suggested that the observed phenotypic variability in this germplasm could be exploited for the genetic enhancement of tepary bean. There will be merit in validating these results on a field basis together with grain yield evaluation and genotyping over multiple locations and seasons to determine elite germplasm for utilization by growers.

Key words: genetic enhancement; germplasm; phenotypic variability; trait



1.0 Introduction

Tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius* A. Gray) (2n = 2x = 22) is a self-pollinating leguminous grain crop originating from the arid and semi-arid region of north western Mexico and south western United States (Nabham and Felger, 1978). Currently, it is cultivated in many African countries including Botswana, Kenya, Malawi, South Africa and Zimbabwe where smallholder farmers use unimproved landraces of the crop (Gwata et al., 2016; Molosiwa et al., 2014). The grain is high (25.0%) in protein and essential mineral elements such as calcium, iron, copper and zinc among others (Bhardwaj and Hamama, 2004). Tepary bean also fixes atmospheric nitrogen thus contributing to the improvement of soil fertility (Mohrmann et al., 2017). Due to its high protein content, and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, tepary bean is suitable for cultivation by resource-poor farmers particularly in southern Africa (Porch et al., 2013).

Although tepary bean grows well in hot and dry environments, its productivity may vary among genotypes and environments. Moreover, climate change has increased the frequency of extreme weather patterns including irregular precipitation, which can cause drought stress resulting in significant reductions in crop production thus threatening food security (Lesk et al., 2016). One of the approaches to achieve increased water capture and water use efficiency in legumes is through developing better root systems (Ye et al., 2018). Variability in root traits in legumes was reported in previous studies of chickpea (Kashiwagi et al., 2005), common bean (Beebe et al., 2013) and tepary bean (Butare et al., 2011). However, despite its potential as a major field crop and the abundance of wild relatives, there is no significant breeding effort to date aimed at cultivar development particularly in southern Africa. Consequently, the crop remains under-utilized. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to evaluate eight phenotypic traits and determine their relationships among 42 genotypes of tepary bean in a controlled environment.

2.0 Materials and Methods

Genetic materials

Forty-two genotypes consisting of both large (100-seed weight \geq 16.0 g) and small seed (100-seed weight \leq 12.0 g) were used in the study (Table A-1). Most of the seed (>60.0%) was white and only two genotypes ('Ac-5' and 'Ac-8') possessed black testa (Table A-1).



Table A-1 Descriptors for the tepary bean genotypes that were used in the study. (1 Large seed, 100-seed weight \geq 16.0 g; small seed,100-seed weight \leq 12.0 g).

	Seed			
Genotype code	[§] Size	Colour		
AC- 1	Medium	Cream		
AC- 2	Large	Cream		
AC- 3	Medium	White		
AC- 4	Medium	white		
AC- 5	Small	Black		
AC- 6	Medium	White		
AC- 7	Small	White		
AC- 8	Medium	Black		
AC- 9	Small	Brown		
AC- 10	Small	Cream		
AC- 11	Medium	White		
AC- 12	Small	White		
AC- 13	Small	White		
AC- 14	Small	White		
AC- 15	Medium	Speckled		
AC- 16	Medium	White		
AC- 17	Medium	White		
AC- 18	Small	White		
AC- 19	Large	White		
AC- 20	Medium	White		
AC- 21	Medium	white		
AC- 22	Small	White		
AC- 23	Small	White		
AC- 24	Small	White		
AC- 25	Small	Cream		
AC- 26	Small	White		
AC- 27	Small	White		
AC- 28	Medium	Cream		
AC- 29	Small	Cream		
AC- 30	Medium	Brown		
AC- 31	Medium	Speckled		
AC- 32	Large	White		
AC- 33	Small	White		
AC- 34 (Check)	Small	White		
AC- 35	Small	White		
AC- 36	Medium	White		
AC- 37	Medium	White		
AC- 38	Small	White		
AC- 39	Small	Cream		
AC- 40	Medium	White		
AC- 41	Large	White		
AC- 42	Small	White		


Testing location, planting and trial management

The study was conducted at the Agricultural Research Council - Vegetable and Ornamental Plants Institute, (25.60°S; 28.35°E), South Africa. The greenhouse temperatures were kept at 30°C during the day and 15°C during the night. Three seeds per genotype were planted manually in the greenhouse in a 155 cm x 77 cm x 23 cm plastic box filled with soil, which was irrigated prior to planting. The seeds were planted at a depth of 4 cm at a spacing of 15 cm between rows and 10 cm within rows. Each genotype consisted of five plants per replication. No chemical or organic fertilisers or pesticides were applied to the plants throughout the season and irrigation was applied as necessary. The weeds were controlled manually.

Phenotypic measurements

At five weeks after germination, two plants per genotype were tagged for identification. In addition, the following phenotypic traits were measured:

- (i) number of secondary roots per plant (NSR)
- (ii) secondary root length per plant (SRL) (cm)
- (iii) root dry weight per plant (RDW) (g)
- (iv) root fresh weight per plant (RFW) (g)
- (v) primary root length per plant (PRL) (cm)
- (vi) shoot height (SH) (cm)
- (vii) shoot fresh weight (SFW) (g)
- (viii) shoot dry weight (SDW) (g)

Following separation of the shoots and the roots and subsequent oven-drying at 75°C for 72 h, both the SDW and RDW were measured.

Experimental design and data analysis

A 6 x 7 rectangular lattice design replicated three times was used in the study. The data sets for all the traits were subjected to analysis of variance followed by mean separation using the least significant difference at the 5.0% probability level. To determine the magnitude of the relationships and identify influential traits, the Pearson's correlation coefficients (*r*) were calculated separately for the treatments followed by the principle component analysis (PCA) based on the correlation matrix using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23 (Spss, 2012).



3.0 Results and Discussion

The results showed that there were highly significant (P<0.01) differences in all the phenotypic traits among the tepary bean genotypes (Table 2). The highest NSR (30.0) which was observed for genotype 'Ac-39' exceeded the trial mean by 62.87%. However, only two genotypes ('Ac-4' and 'Ac-29') attained significantly (P < 0.05) higher PRL than the check genotype ('Ac-34') (Table 2). In contrast, when compared with the check, only three ('Ac-33', 'Ac-39', 'Ac-40') and four ('Ac-7', 'Ac-8', 'Ac-40', 'Ac-41') genotypes achieved a significantly (P<0.05) higher SRL and SDW, respectively. In a recent study, the root biomass, showed significant differences between tepary bean types and likely contributed to adaptation to the combined high temperature and acid soil conditions (Adu et al, 2019; Suárez et al., 2022). In addition, increased rooting depth as well as an efficient root system contribute to drought avoidance in legumes (Beebe et al., 2013).

The results also revealed significant (P < 0.05) positive correlations between specific pairs of the phenotypic traits (Table A-3). For instance, there was a highly significant (P < 0.01) positive correlation between the SDW and the SFW among the genotypes indicating that there was a strong linear relationship between the two parameters (Fig. A-1). Similarly, at least 68.0% of the changes in RDW were attributed to the changes in the SRL. In another study involving phenotyping of chickpea (*Cicer aritinum*), the root traits of plants that were raised in cylinders almost matched the relationships that were determined under field conditions (Vadez et al., 2008).

The genotypes grouped into clusters based on their phenotypic trait associations. Genotypes 'Ac-16', 'Ac-24' and 'Ac-38' were clustered close to the origin, suggesting that they possessed a similar genetic relationship for most of the traits. In contrast, the genotypes 'Ac-3', 'Ac-5', 'Ac-20', 'Ac-22', 'Ac-28', 'Ac-39' and 'Ac-40' were positioned far from the origin indicating that they possessed unique alleles in comparison with the rest of the germplasm that was evaluated. In this regard, these genotypes appeared to be the most genetically distinct based on the eight phenotypic traits that were measured and could be utilized as potential parental lines for hybridization in future tepary bean breeding programs aimed at improving the traits of interest. A similar approach for determining the phenotypic root traits in cowpea successfully identified superior cowpea genotypes that were tolerant to soil moisture stress (Nkoana et al., 2020; 2021).



Conclusions and recommendations

Firm conclusions based on one season at a single testing location were difficult to draw. Nonetheless, the study affirmed that characterization and evaluation of the tepary bean germplasm for phenotypic traits are useful in discerning genetic variability that can be utilized in future breeding of the crop aimed at improving the tepary bean value chain. In addition, there will be merit in validating these results on a field basis together with grain yield evaluation and genotyping over multiple locations and seasons in order to determine elite germplasm for utilization by tepary bean breeders and growers.





Table A-2 Variability in phenotypic traits among 42 tepary bean accessions (NSR = number of secondary roots; SRL = secondary root length (cm); RFW = root fresh weight (g); RDW = root dry weight (g); PRL = primary root length (cm); SH = shoot height (cm); SFW = shoot fresh weight (g); SDW = shoot dry weight (g)).

Genotype code	NSR	PRL	SRL	RFW	RDW	SFW	SDW	SH
Ac-39	30.00	7.50	11.30	1.21	0.32	1.55	1.17	24.30
Ac-27	25.33	7.23	9.17	0.64	0.27	0.52	0.22	14.83
Ac-29	24.67	9.57	6.30	0.54	0.26	0.62	0.37	15.97
Ac-10	24.33	6.37	8.47	0.56	0.27	1.46	1.05	22.13
Ac-2	23.33	5.14	7.95	0.62	0.07	1.63	1.60	25.80
Ac-40	23.00	6.60	11.10	1.57	1.13	2.35	1.77	23.40
Ac-5	22.33	8.10	10.07	1.63	1.18	2.72	1.37	27.53
Ac-6	22.33	5.77	8.03	0.53	0.23	1.89	1.47	26.57
Ac-17	22.00	7.17	7.80	1.31	1.03	1.53	1.20	15.80
Ac-33	22.00	6.30	11.40	1.42	1.21	1.17	1.11	11.40
Ac-41	22.00	6.63	9.77	1.29	0.88	1.91	1.71	17.33
Ac-15	21.67	5.23	7.67	1.06	0.40	1.64	1.05	14.17
Ac-24	21.33	5.43	8.83	0.67	0.27	1.87	1.10	18.17
Ac-16	20.67	4.73	6.90	0.68	0.43	1.77	1.18	17.70
Ac-38	20.67	5.27	7.90	0.39	0.19	1.55	0.89	20.97
Ac-30	20.33	6.83	9.47	0.48	0.18	1.60	0.78	18.90
Ac-34	20.33	6.47	8.13	0.81	0.31	1.31	1.06	18.53
Ac-14	20.00	5.07	9.03	0.72	0.22	1.18	0.82	15.40
Ac-37	19.67	7.80	10.07	1.00	0.39	1.55	1.07	20.63
Ac-4	19.33	8.53	8.13	1.02	0.38	1.85	1.33	21.23
Ac-8	19.00	6.80	7.50	1.12	0.82	2.34	1.74	22.00
Ac-9	19.00	6.67	8.27	0.93	0.72	1.63	1.17	19.50
Ac-26	17.67	5.00	7.13	0.38	0.18	1.00	0.63	15.67
Ac-25	17.00	6.00	9.57	0.39	0.17	0.52	0.25	15.50
Ac-42	16.67	4.57	8.23	0.56	0.22	1.75	1.33	22.10
Ac-18	16.33	6.87	7.90	1.33	1.03	1.53	1.19	15.43
Ac-23	16.33	5.33	6.30	0.55	0.22	1.84	1.16	19.40
Ac-19	16.00	5.13	5.20	0.41	0.15	1.58	1.01	20.27
Ac-31	15.33	5.13	6.30	0.31	0.10	1.22	0.42	16.86
Ac-1	15.00	4.23	4.97	0.41	0.21	1.92	0.89	21.50
Ac-21	15.00	3.93	5.90	0.46	0.20	1.49	1.10	14.27
Ac-35	15.00	3.27	10.23	0.52	0.29	0.76	0.61	19.17
Ac-11	14.33	3.27	7.13	0.65	0.28	1.62	1.11	14.87
Ac-13	14.33	6.24	6.46	0.67	0.42	1.50	1.09	14.27
Ac-3	14.00	5.40	4.90	0.28	0.16	0.44	0.20	13.73
Ac-36	14.00	4.60	4.65	0.31	0.18	1.33	1.01	13.30
Ac-7	14.00	5.37	6.23	0.65	0.45	2.38	1.87	21.90
Ac-12	13.00	2.80	6.84	0.62	0.37	1.45	1.08	12.40
Ac-22	12.00	3.90	4.30	0.24	0.10	0.76	0.60	16.50
Ac-32	12.00	6.20	7.30	0.45	0.24	0.54	0.27	16.00
Ac-20	11.67	3.27	5.43	0.24	0.09	0.67	0.38	19.43
Ac-28	10.67	2.80	3.60	0.22	0.07	1.77	0.11	18.87
Mean	18.42	5.69	7.66	0.71	0.39	1.47	0.99	18.42
Coefficient of variation (%)	43.86	13.52	18.24	1.69	0.92	3.50	2.37	43.86
Least significant difference (5.0%)	5.58	1.71	2.74	0.21	0.36	0.88	0.62	6.98



Table A-3 Pearson's correlation coefficients for eight phenotypic traits among 42 tepary bean genotypes. (NSR = number of secondary roots; PRL = primary root length (cm); SRL = secondary root length (cm); RFW = root fresh weight (g); RDW = root dry weight (g); SFW = shoot fresh weight (g); SDW = shoot dry weight (g); SH = shoot height (cm)).

	NSR	PRL	SRL	RFW	RDW	SFW	SDW	SH
NSR	1.0000							
PRL	0.6683 **	1.0000						
SRL	0.6922 **	0.4940 **	1.0000					
RFW	0.1581	0.0100	0.0608	1.0000				
RDW	0.4888 **	0.6079 **	0.6816 **	0.0412	1.0000			
SFW	0.2054	0.1170	0.1559	0.1020	0.4209 **	1.0000		
SDW	0.3367 *	0.2044	0.3336 *	0.0818	0.5209 **	0.8084 **	1.0000	
SH	0.3526 *	0.1918	0.2419	0.1565	0.1931	0.5804 **	0.4510 **	1.0000



Fig. A-1 The relationship between the shoot dry weight and the shoot fresh weight among 42 tepary bean genotypes.





Fig. A-2 Principal component score plot of PC1 and PC2 describing the variation among 42 tepary bean genotypes estimated using the data set of phenotypic traits. (NSR = number of secondary roots; PRL = primary root length; SRL = secondary root length; RFW = root fresh weight; RDW = root dry weight; SFW = shoot fresh weight; SDW = shoot dry weight; SH = shoot height).



References

- Adu M. O., Asare P A., Yawson D. O., Dzidzienyo D. K., Nyadanu D., Asare-Bediako E., Afutu
 E., Tachie-Menson J. W. and Amoah M. N. (2019). Identifying key contributing root system traits to genetic diversity in field-grown cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp.) genotypes. *Field Crops Research* 232: 106 118.
- Beebe S. E., Rao I M., Blair M. W. and Acosta-Gallegos J. A. (2013). Phenotyping common beans for adaptation to drought. *Frontiers in Physiology* 4: 1 20.
- Bhardwaj H. L. and Hamama A. A. (2004). Oil and fatty acid composition of tepary bean seed. *HortScience* 40: 1436 - 1438.
- Butare L., Rao I. M., Lepoivre P., Polania J., Cajiao C., Cuasquer J. and Beebe S. (2011). New genetic sources of resistance in the genus *Phaseolus* to individual and combined aluminium toxicity and progressive soil drying stresses. *Euphytica* 181: 385 - 404.
- Gwata E.T., Shimelis H. and Matova P. M. (2016). Potential of improving agronomic attributes in tropical legumes using two mutation breeding techniques in Southern Africa. In: Konvalina P (eds) *Alternative Crops and Cropping Systems*. IntechOpen: London, United Kingdom. 71 85.
- Kashiwagi J., Krishnamurthy L., Upadhyaya H. D., Krishna H., Chandra S., Vadez V. and Serraj R. (2005). Genetic variability of drought-avoidance root traits in the mini-core germplasm collection of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Euphytica* 146: 213 - 222.
- Lesk C., Rowhani P. and Ramankutty N. (2016). Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature* 529: 84 87.
- Mohrmann M. D., Bhardwaj H. L., Shen H., and Knight-Mason R. (2017). Symbiotic N fixation: plant-microbe interaction between tepary bean and *Bradyrhizobium* strains. *Plant Science and Research* 4: 1 - 4.
- Molosiwa O. O., Kgokong S. B., Makwala B., Gwafila C. and Ramokapane M. G. (2014). Genetic diversity of tepary bean (*Phaseolus acutifolius*) landraces grown in Botswana. *Plant Breeding and Crop Science* 6: 194 - 199.
- Nabhan G. P. and Felger R. S. (1978). Teparies in Southwestern North America. A biogeographical and ethnohistorical study of *Phaseolus acutifolius*. *Economic Botany* 32: 3 19.
- Nkoana D. K., Gerrano A. S. and Gwata E. T. (2019). Agronomic performance and genetic variability of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) accessions. *Legume Research* 42: 757 762.



- Nkoana K. D., Gerrano A. S. and Gwata E. T. (2019). Evaluation of diverse cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp] Germplasm accessions for drought tolerance. Legume Research 42: 168 - 172.
- Porch T. G., Beaver J. S., Debouck D. G., Jackson S. A., Kelly J. D. and Dempewolf H. (2013). Use of wild relatives and closely related species to adapt common bean to climate change. *Agronomy* 3: 433 - 461.
- SAS (2011). Statistical Analysis System (SAS)/Interactive Matrix Language (IML) 9.3 User's Guide. SAS Institute Inc: Cary, North Carolina.
- SPSS, I. (2012). International Business Machines (IBM) Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) statistics version 21. International Business Machines Corp 126: Boston, Massachusetts.
- Suárez J. C., Contreras A. T., Anzola J. A., Vanegas J. I. and Rao I. M. (2022). Physiological characteristics of cultivated tepary bean (Phaseolus acutifolius A. Gray) and its wild relatives grown at high temperature and acid soil stress conditions in the Amazon region of Colombia. *Plants* 11: 116.
- Vadez V., Rao J. S., Kholova J., Krishnamurthy L., Kashiwagi J., Pasala R., Sharma K., Bhatnagar-Mathur P. and Basu P. (2008). Root research for drought tolerance in legumes: Quo vadis? Food Legumes 21: 77 - 85.
- Ye H., Roorkiwal M., Valliyodan B., Zhou L., Chen P., Varshney R. K. and Nguyen H. T. (2018).
 Genetic diversity of root system architecture in response to drought stress in grain legumes. *Experimental Botany* 69: 3267 - 327.